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To Our Sharebolders:

Many companies can deliver solid results under favorable market
conditions, but it takes a particularly resilient organization to sus-
tain that level of performance when times get tough. I'm pleased
to report that in fiscal 2002, Carnival Corporation proved once
again that we could maintain our record for industry-leading per-
formance even amidst the most challenging conditions I have
seen in my 35 years in the cruise business.

In response to the pressures on the leisure travel industry
created by the tragic events of September 11, 2001, we lowered our
prices to increase the value of cruising and encourage vacationers
to select cruising over land-based alternatives. We also instituted a
series of measures to strengthen our balance sheet, reduce
expenditures and make cruising more attractive and convenient.
These actions helped to drive a rebound in our business and
enabled us to post 2002 financial results that were better than we
had anticipated. Although our revenues declined to $4.37 billion
compared with $4.54 billion in 2001, net income rose to $1.02 bil-
lion, compared with $926 million last year. Earnings per share
also grew to $1.73 from $1.58 in 2001, reflecting our ability to
withstand worldwide geopolitical events.

Our earnings stability and strong balance sheet were power-
ful assets as we continued to expand geographically, build the
strength of our brands and expand our fleet. Our solid financial
foundation also enabled us to continue our quest to acquire P&O
Princess Cruises plc, a strategic measure that will round out our
brand portfolio, expand our presence around the globe, and enable

us to leverage new economies of scale to drive efficiencies. Our
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offer to acquire P&O Princess will be presented for consideration
to P&O Princess and Carnival shareholders at separate share-
holder meetings during the second quarter of 2003. We expect to
provide our shareholders with a full report once those meetings
are concluded.

Despite the fact that we are still operating in a tough economic
environment, we view Carnival’s long-term prospects as favorable.
Our bullish outlook stems from the strengths that make Carnival
unique in our industry: the power of our six brands, our proven
growth strategy, a high level of consumer satisfaction with our wide
range of cruise products, and the skill of our management team.
We believe that these strengths, combined with the fact that we
operate a flexible business that performs well even in a challenging
environment, will continue to drive our success over the long term.

In the meantime, we continue our commitment to careful
cost containment, an effort that spans the activities of the entire
organization, and includes our publication of this purposely
abbreviated Annual Report. We trust that our shareholders will
appreciate our attention to cost control efforts, particularly as we

navigate today’s difficult economic times.

Micky Arison
Chairman and Chief Fxecutive Officer
March 10, 2003

&
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Financial Highlights
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Carnival Corporation

{in millions of dollars, except earnings per share) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Revenues . ................... ... $ 4368 $ 4536 $3,779 $3,497 $3,009
Netincome ......... .. ... ........ $1016 $ 926 $ 965 $1,027 $ 836
Earnings Per Share .......... ..... $ 173 8 1658 $160 %166 $ 140
Cash From QOperations .. ............ $ 1469 $ 1,239 9$1,280 $1,330 $1,092
Total Assets . . ... ... $12,335 $11,664 $9,831 $8,286 $7,179

Shareholder Benefit
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Carnival Corporation is pleased to extend the following benefit to our shareholders:

$250 Onboard credit per stateroom on sailings of 14 days or longer
$100 Onboard credit per stateroom on sailings of 7-13 days
$ 50 Onboard credit per stateroom on sailings of 6 days or less

This benefit is applicable on sailings through July 31, 2004 aboard Carnival Cruise Lines, Costa Cruises, Cunard Line, Holland
America Line, Seabourn Cruise Line and Windstar Cruises.

This benefit is available to shareholders holding & minimum of 100 shares. Employees, travel agents cruising at travel
agent rates, tour conductors or anyone cruising on a reduced-rate or complimentary basis are excluded from this offer. This
benefit is not transferable, not combinable with any other shipboard offer and cannot be used for casino credits/charges and
tips charged to your onboard account. Only one onboard credit per shareholder-occupied stateroom. Reservations must be
made by February 28, 2004.

Please provide your name, reservation number, ship and sailing date, along with proof of ownership of Carnival
Corporation stock (i.e., photocopy of shareholder proxy card or a current brokerage statement) and the initial deposit to your
travel agent or to the cruise line you have selected.

CafANivaL CRUISE LINES HoLtanp AMERtCA LINE/WINDSTAR CosTta CRUISES CuNnaRD LINE/SEABOURN
Research Supervisor, Reservation Administration  Reservation Administration Agent Director, Passenger Services Supervisor, Guest Services
3655 N.W. 87th Avenue 300 tliiott Avenue West 200 S. Park Road, Suite 200 6100 Blue Lagoon Drive
Miami, FL 33178 Seattle, WA 98119 Hollywood, FL 33021 Suite 400

Tel 800-438-6744 ext. 70041 Tel 800-426-0327 ext. 4042 Tel B00-462-6782 Miami, FL 33126

Fax 305-406-5882 Fax 206-298-3059 Fax 954-266-2100 Tef 800-5628-6273 ext. 1214

Fax 305-463-3038

Carunival Corporation 2002 Annual Report
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

Carnival Corporation

Years Ended November 30,

{in thousands, except earnings per share) 2002 2001 2000
REVEBMUSS . . . . . . . $4,368,269 $4,535,751 $3,778,642
Costs and Expenses
Operating . ... 2,311,919 2,468,730 2,058,342
Seliing and administrative .. ............. ... ... ... .. .. 611,948 618,664 487,403
Depreciation and amortization .. .......... ... .. ... .. .. 382,343 372,224 287,667
Impairment charge . .. ... 20,0600 140,378
Loss (income) from affiliated operations, net . ......... .. .. 44,024 (37,828)
3,326,210 3,644,020 2,795,684
Operating Income .. ... ... ... ... ... .. 1,042,058 891,731 982,958
Nonoperating (Expense) income
Interest iNCOME . . . . .. i 32,140 34,255 16,606
Interest expense, net of capitalized interest .. ............. {110,740} (120,692) (41,372)
Other (expense) income, net .. ... ... ... . . ., {4,080} 108,648 8,460
{82,680) 22,212 (16,406)
Income Beforeincome Taxes ... . ...... ... ... ... ... .. ... 959,379 913,943 966,552
income Tax Benefit (Expense), Net . ... ... ... ... ... .. ..., 56,562 12,257 (1,094)
Netincome .. ... ... .. .. . . . . . . . e e $1,015,941 $ 926,200 $ 965,458
Earnings Per Share
BasiC ... . $ 173§ 158 § 1.61
Diluted . . ... $ 173 % 158 §% 1.60

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Carnival Corporation

{in thousands, except par value)

November 30,
2002 2001

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cashandcash equivalents .. ... ... ... . . . . . . i,

$ 666,700 $ 1,421,300

Short-term investments . ... ... ... .. e 38,005 36,784
Accounts receivable, net. ... ... ... L 108,327 90,763
INVENTONIES . . . o 21,310 91,996
Prepaid expensesand other . ... ... .. ... ... .. 148,420 113,798
Fair value of hedged firm commitments . ......................... 78,390 204,347
Total current assets. . .. .. ... .. 1,132,152 1,958,988
Property and Equipment, Net . .. ... .. ... .. ... ... 10,115,404 8,390,230
Goodwill . . ... 681,056 651,814
Other Assels . . . . . . . . .. 297,175 188,915
Fair Value of Hedged Firm Commitments . . ... ... ... ... .. .. ..., 109,061 373,605

$12,334,848 $11,5663,552

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Current portion of long-termdebt . . ........... ... ... ... ... ... ..... $ 1748642 3 21,764
Accounts payable . .. ... .. 268,687 269,467
Accrued liabilities . . ... ... e 290,391 298,032
Customer deposits . ... .. 770,637 627,698
Dividends payable. . . ... .. .. .. 61,612 61,548
Fair value of derivative contracts. . . ... ... ... . 79,837 201,731
Total current liabilities .. .. ... ... ... .. 1,619,806 1,480,240
Long-Term Debt . .. ... .. . 3,011,969 2,954,854
Deferred Income and Other Long-Term Liabifities. . . . ....... ... .. .. 170,814 157,998
Fair Value of Derivative Contracts . . .. ........... ... ... ... ... .. .. 114,356 379,683
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 7 and 8}
Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock; $.01 par value; 960,000 shares authorized;
586,788 shares issued and outstanding at 2002
(620,019 shares issued at 2001) .. ... ... ... .. ... ... ... ... ... 5,868 6,200
Additional paid-in capital .. ... ... 1,089,125 1,805,248
Retained earnings. . . . ... o 6,325,850 5,556,296
Unearned stock compensation . .......... ... .. (11,181) {(12,398)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss) . .. .. ... ... ... .. 8,241 (36,932)
Treasury stock; 33,848 sharesatcost . .. ...... ... ... ... . ... .. .. (727,637)
Total shareholders’ equity . . ... .. ... .. ... . . ... . 7,417,903 6,590,777

$12,334,848 $11,663,552

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Carnival Corporation 2002 Annual Report
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Carnival Corporation

Years Ended November 30,
{in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Netincome . ..... . ... ... . $1,015,941 $ 926,200 $ 965,458
Adjustments to reconcile net income to

net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization .. .......... ... ... ... . 382,343 372,224 287,667
Impairmentcharge . ... ... ... ... ... . ... .. 20,000 140,378
Gain on sale of investments in affiliates, net .. ......... (116,698)
Loss {income) from affiliated operations

and dividends received . . ... ... ... .. .. 56,910 (21,362)
Accretion of original issue discount .. ....... ... ... ... 19,294 2,174 199
Other .. .. 14,664 19,025 (14,888)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities,
excluding businesses acquired and consolidated
(Increase) decrease in

Receivables . .. ... ... . . ... {5,452) (7,134) (15,132)
INnVentories . ... .. 1,667 8,455 (8,205)
Prepaid expenses and other ............... .. .... {80,593) 43,697 (21,972)
{Decrease) increase in
Accounts payable . ... .. ... ... . ... (12,8%1) (63,227) 58,133
Accrued and other liabilities . . . ... ... ... .. .. ... ... (28,380) (335) (5,977)
Customer deposits ................ ... .. ....... 141,559 {142,727) 55,614
Net cash provided by operating activities . ... ... ... 1,489,032 1,238,936 1,279,635
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to property and equipment, net . ... ... ... ....... (1,986,482) {826,568)  (1,003,348)
Proceeds from sale of investments in affiliates ... .......... 531,225
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment . ... .. ....... 4,071 15,000 51,350
Acquisition of consolidated subsidiary, net . ...... ... ... ... (383,640}
Sale (purchase) of short-term investments, net .......... ... 2,213 (33,395) 22,170
Other, net . ... ... . . {32,855) (28,178) 21,441
Net cash used in investing activities . ... ........ . {2,020,053) (341,916)  (1,292,027)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of long-termdebt .. ... ...... ... .. 231,940 2,574,281 1,020,091
Purchase of treasury stock . ............. ... ... ........ (705,137}
Principal repayments of long-termdebt . ..... ... .. ... ... {189,678) (1,971,026) (388,429)
Dividends paid . ........ .. .. . .. . ... (248,323) (245,844) (254,333)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net . ........... 7,240 5,274 7,811
Other, principally debt issuance costs .. .................. {1,544) (25,531)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities . . . {198,365) 337,154 {319,997)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . . . {5,214} (2,156)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents . {754,600) 1,232,018 {332,489)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . ........ ... 1,421,300 189,282 521,771
Cash and cash equivalents atend ofyear ................. $ 665,700 $1,421,300 § 189,282

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Carnival Corporation

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Unearned  Accumulsted Total
Compre- Additional stock other share-
hensive  Common paid-in Retained compen-  comprehensive  Treasury holders’
(in thousands) income stock capital garnings sation incorne (loss) stock equity
Balances at November 30, 1999 ... .. $6,170 $1,757,408 $4,176,498 $ {3,945) $ 1,116 $5.931,247
Comprehensive income
Netincome ................. § 965,458 965,458 965,458
Foreign currency
translation adjustment ... .. .. (73,943) {73,943) {73,943)
Unrealized losses on
marketable securities, net .. .. (2,232) (2,232) (2,232)
Total comprehensive income ...  § 889,283
Cashdividends ................ (250,923) (250,923)
Issuance of stock under
stockplans ........... .. ..., 6 15,489 (5,977 9,518
Amortization of unearned stock
compensation ............... 3,639 3,639
Effect of conforming Costa's
reporting period ... ........ ... {7,010) (7,010
Purchase of treasury stock ....... ${705,137) (705,137)
Balances at November 30, 2000 .. ... 6,176 1,772,897 4,884,023  (12,283) (75,059) (705,137) 5,870,617
Comprehensive income
Netincome ... .......... ... $ 926,200 926,200 926,200
Foreign currency
translation adjustment, net . .. 45,781 45,781 45,781
Unrealized gains on
marketable securities, net .. .. 6,411 6,411 6,411
Minimum pension liability
adjustment ... ........... (5,521) (5,521) (5,521)
Changes related to cash flow
derivative hedges, net ... ... (4,330) {4,330} (4,330)
Transition adjustment for
cash flow derivative hedges . . . {4,214) (4,214) (4,214)
Total comprehensive income ... § 964,327
Cashdividends ................ (2486,021) (246,021)
Issuance of stock under
stockplans .......... ... ... 24 32,351 (4,601) (22,500) 5274
Amortization of unearned stock
compensation . .............. 4,486 4,486
Effect of conforming Airtours’
reporting period . ... ... ... .. (7,908) {7,908)
Balances at November 30, 2001 .. ... 6,200 1,805,248 5556296  (12,398) {36,932) (727,637) 6,590,777
Comprehensive income
Netincome ............ ..... $1,015,941 1,015,941 1,015,941
Foreign currency -
translation adjustment .. ... .. 51,294 51,294 51,296 S
Minimum pension liability 5‘
adjustment ... ... ... .. (9,166) {9,166} (9,166) 3
Unrealized gains on 3
marketable securities, net .. .. 2,579 2,579 2579 3
Changes related to cash flow :
derivative hedges, net . ... ... 466 466 466 g
Total comprehensive income ... $1,061,114 o
———— ®
Cash dividends ................ (246,387) (246,387) 8
Issuance of stock under 3
stockplans ................. 6 11,176 (3,942) 7280 ¢
Retirement of treasury stock ... ... (338)  (727,299) 727,637 g‘
Amortization of unearned stock ¥}
compensation ............... 5,159 5,159 "§‘
Balances at November 30, 2002 . . .. $5,868 $1,089,125 $6,325,850 $(11,181) $821 § $7,417,503 é
]
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Carnival Corporation

Note 1—General

Description of Business

Carnival Corporation is a Panamanian corporation
and, together with its consolidated subsidiaries, is
referred to collectively in these consolidated financial
statements and elsewhere in this 2002 Annual Report
as “our,” "us” and “we."” We are a global cruise
vacation and leisure travel provider that operates six
cruise lines under the brand names Carnival Cruise
Lines (“CCL"), Costa Cruises {“Costa”), Cunard Line
{("Cunard"), Holland America Line ("Holland America”),
Seabourn Cruise Line ("Seabourn”) and Windstar
Cruises ("Windstar"} and a tour business, Holland
America Tours (“Tours”). CCL operates eighteen cruise
ships with destinations primarily to the Caribbean, the
Bahamas and the Mexican Riviera. Holland America
operates eleven cruise ships with destinations primarily
to Alaska, the Caribbean and Europe. Costa operates
eight cruise ships with destinations primarily to Europe,
the Caribbean and South America. Cunard operates
two premium/iuxury cruise ships and Seabourn and
Windstar each operate three luxury cruise ships with
destinations to the Caribbean, Europe, Central America,
Tahiti and other worldwide destinations. Our current
fleet of 45 ships has a passenger capacity of 67,282
lower berths. Tours is a leading cruise/tour operator in
Alaska and the Canadian Yukon. Tours also markets
sightseeing packages, both separately and as a part of
our cruise/tour packages.

Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of our consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires us
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported and disclosed in our financial state-
ments. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
All material intercompany accounts, transactions and
unrezlized profits and losses on transactions within our
consolidated group and with affiliates are eliminated
in consolidation.

Note 2—Summary Of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

We consolidate subsidiaries over which we have
control, as typically evidenced by a direct ownership
interest of greater than 50%. For affiliates where sig-
nificant influence over financial and operating policies
exists, as typically evidenced by a direct ownership
interest from 20% to 50%, the investment is accounted
for using the equity method. See Note 5.

Prior to our acquisition of Costa in late fiscal 2000,
we accounted for our 50% interest in Costa using the
equity method and recorded our portion of Costa’s
operating results as earnings from affiliated operations
on a two-month lag basis. As of November 30, 2000,
we changed how we report Costa’s operating results

from a two-month lag basis to reporting on Costa's
current month's results. Accordingly, our November 30,
2000 consolidated balance sheet included Costa’s
November 30, 2000 balance sheet. The impact of
conforming Costa’s reporting period on our fiscal 2000
revenues, operating income and net income was not
material. Commencing in fiscal 2001, Costa’s results of
operations were also consolidated on a current month
basis in the same manner as our other wholly-owned
subsidiaries. See Note 17.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and
Short-Term Investments

Cash and cash equivalents include investments with
original maturities of three months or less are stated
at cost. At November 30, 2002 and 2001, cash and
cash equivalents included $616 milflion and $1.38 billion
of investments, respectively, primarily comprised of
strong investment grade asset-backed debt obligations
and money market funds.

Short-term investments are comprised of marketable
debt and equity securities which are categorized as
available for sale and, accordingly, are stated at their
fair values. Unrealized gains and losses are included
as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
income {Joss) {"AQC!") within shareholders’ equity until
realized. The specific identification method is used to
determine realized gains or losses.

inventories

Inventaries consist primarily of provisions, spare
parts, supplies and fuel carried at the lower of cost or
market. Cost is determined using the weighted-average
or first-in, first-out method.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Deprecia-
tion and amortization was computed using the straight-
line method over our estimates of average useful tives
and residual values, as a percentage of original cost,
as follows:

Residual
Values Years
Ships . ... 15% 30
Buildings and improvements . . . 0-10% 5-40
Transportation equipment
andother ...... ... .... ... 0-25% 2-20

Leasehold improvements,
including port facilities ... .. Shorter of lease
term or related

asset life

We review our long-lived assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of these assets may not be
fully recoverable. The assessment of possible impair-
ment is based on our ability to recover the carrying value
of our asset based on our estimate of its undiscounted
future cash flows. If these estimated undiscounted




future cash flows are less than the carrying value of the
asset, an impairment charge is recognized for the excess,
if any, of the assets carrying value over its estimated
fair value (see Notes 4 and 16}

Dry-dock costs are included in prepaid expenses and
are amortized to operating expenses using the straight-
line method generally over one year.

Ship improvement costs that we believe add value t0
our ships are capitalized to the ships, and depreciated
over the improvements’ estimated useful lives, while
costs of repairs and maintenance are charged to expense
as incurred. We capitalize interest on ships and other
capital projects during their construction period. Upon
the replacement or refurbishment of previously capital-
ized ship components, these assets’ estimated cost
and accumulated depreciation are written-off and any
resulting gain or loss is recognized in our results of
operations. No such material gains or losses were rec-
ognized in fiscal 2002, 2001 or 2000. See Note 3.

Gains or losses on the sale of property and equip-
ment are classified as nonoperating other income or
expense. In fiscal 2002, we realized an $8 million loss
on the sale of the former Nieuw Amsterdam.

Goodwill

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS")
No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” requires
companies to stop amortizing goodwill and requires
an annual, or when events or circumstances dictate a
more frequent, impairment review of goodwill. Accord-
ingly, upon adoption of SFAS No. 142 on December 1,
2001, we ceased amortizing our goodwill, all of which
has been allocated to our Costa, Cunard and Holland
America reportable units, which are all part of our report-
able cruise segment. We completed the transitional
and annual impairment tests of these reporting units’
existing goodwill as of December 1, 2001 and July 31,
2002, respectively, and determined that their goodwill
was not impaired. There has been no change to our
goodwill carrying amount since November 30, 2001,
other than the change resulting from using a different
foreign currency translation rate at November 30, 2002
compared to November 30, 2001.

If goodwill amortization, including goodwill expensed
as part of our loss or income from affiliated operations,
had not been recorded for fiscal 2001 and 2000 our
adjusted net income and adjusted basic and diluted
earnings per share would have been as follows (in
thousands, except per share amounts):

2001 2000
Netincome ................... $926,200  $965,458
Goodwill amortization ........... 25,480 23,046
Adjusted netincome ............ $951,680  $988,504
Adjusted earnings per share
Basic ..... ... ... ... ... ... $ 1863 $ 165
Diluted ..................... $ 162 $ 1.64

The SFAS No. 142 goodwill impairment review con-
sists of a two-step process of first determining the
fair value of the reporting unit and comparing it to the
carrying value of the net assets allocated to the report-
ing unit. Fair values of our reporting units were deter-
mined based on our estimates of comparable market
price or discounted future cash flows. If this fair value
exceeds the carrying value, which was the case for our
reporting units, no further analysis or goodwill write-
down is required. If the fair value of the reporting unit
is less than the carrying value of the net assets, the
implied fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to
all the underlying assets and liabilities, including both
recognized and unrecognized tangible and intangible
assets, based on their fair value. If necessary, goodwill
is then written-down 1o its implied fair value.

Prior to fiscal 2002, our goodwill was reviewed for
impairment pursuant to the same policy as our other
long-ived assets as discussed above (see Note 4} and
our goodwill was amortized over 40 years using the
straight-line method. In addition, accumulated goodwill
amortization at November 30, 2001 was $118 million.

Derivative instruments and Hedging Activities

We utilize derivative instruments, such as forward
foreign currency contracts to limit our exposure to fluc-
tuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest
rate swaps to manage our interest rate exposure and
to achieve a desired proportion of variable and fixed
rate debt (see Note 11).

Our most significant contracts to buy foreign cur-
rency are forward contracts entered into to fix the cost
in United States ("U.S.”) dollars of seven of our foreign
currency denominated shipbuilding commitments (see
Note 7). If our shipbuilding contract is denominated
in the functional currency of the cruise line that is
expected to be operating the ship, we have not entered
into a forward foreign currency contract to hedge that
commitment.

Effective December 1, 2000, we adopted SFAS
No. 133, as amended, "Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” which requires
that all derivative instruments be recorded on our bal-
ance sheet at their fair values. Derivatives that are not
hedges must be recorded at fair value and the changes
in fair value must be immediately included in earnings.
If a derivative is a fair value hedge, then changes in the
fair value of the derivative are offset against the changes
in the fair value of the underlying hedged firm commit-
ment. If a derivative is a cash flow hedge, then changes
in the fair value of the derivative are recognized as a
component of AOCI until the underlying hedged item is
recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a
hedge derivative’s change in fair value is immediately
recognized in earnings. We formally document all rela-
tionships between hedging instruments and hedged
items, as well as our risk management objectives and

Cavrnival Corporation 2002 Annual Report
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinued)

Carnival Corporation

strategies for undertaking our hedge transactions. Upon
adoption, we recorded an adjustment of $4.2 million
in AOCI to record the unrealized net losses from our
cash flow hedges that existed on December 1, 2000.

The total $187 million and $578 million of current and
long-term fair value of hedged firm commitment assets
on our November 30, 2002 and 2001 balance sheets,
respectively, includes $178 million and $567 million,
respectively, of unrealized gains on our shipbuilding
commitments denominated in foreign currencies because
of the strengthening of the dollar compared to the
euro. In addition, the total $194 million and $581 million
of fair value of derivative contract liabilities on our
November 30, 2002 and 2001 balance sheets, respec-
tively, includes $178 million and $567 million of unreal-
ized losses on our forward foreign currency contracts
relating to those same shipbuilding commitments,
which are used to fix the cost of our shipbuilding com-
mitments in U.S. dollars, and effectively offsets the
related hedged firm commitment assets.

We classify the fair value of our derivative contracts
and the fair value of our offsetting hedged firm com-
mitments as either current or long-term liabilities and
assets depending on whether the maturity date of the
derivative contract is within or beyond one year from
our balance sheet dates, respectively. The cash flows
from derivatives treated as hedges are classified in our
statements of cash flows in the same category as the
item being hedged.

Derivative gains and losses included in AOCI are
reclassified into earnings at the same time the underly-
ing hedged transaction is recorded in earnings. During
fiscal 2002 and 2001, all net changes in the fair value of
both our fair value hedges and the offsetting hedged
firm commitments and our cash flow hedges were
immaterial, as were any ineffective portions of these
hedges. No fair value hedges or cash flow hedges were
derecognized or discontinued in fiscal 2002 and 2001,
and the amount of estimated unrealized net losses
which are expected to be reclassified to earnings in the
next twelve months is not material. At November 30,
2002 and 2001, AOC! included $8 million and $8.5 million
of unrealized net losses, respectively, from cash flow
hedge derivatives, which were substantially all variable
to fixed interest rate swap agreements.

Finally, if any of the three shipyards with which we
have contracted to build our ships is unable to perform,
we would still be required to perform under our foreign
currency forward contracts related to that shipyard's
shipbuilding contracts. Accordingly, based upon the
circumstances, we may have to discontinue the account-
ing for those forward contracts as hedges, if the ship-
yard cannot perform.

Prior to fiscal 2001, changes in the fair values of and
any discounts or premiums on, our shipbuilding forward
foreign currency contract hedges were recorded at
maturity, which coincided with the dates when the
related foreign currency payments were to be made,
with any resulting gains or losses recorded as a
decrease or increase, respectively, to the cost paid for
our ships.

Revenue and Expense Recognition

Guest cruise deposits represent unearned revenues
and are initially recorded as customer deposit liabilities
on our balance sheet when received. Customer deposits
are subseqguently recognized as cruise revenues, together
with revenues from onboard activities and all associ-
ated direct costs of a voyage, generally upon completion
of voyages with durations of ten days or less and on a
pro rata basis for voyages in excess of ten days. Future
travel discount vouchers issued to guests are recorded
as a reduction of revenues when such vouchers are
utilized. Revenues and expenses from our tour and
related services are recognized at the time the services
are performed or expenses are incurred.

Advertising Costs

Substantially all of our advertising costs are charged
to expense as incurred, except costs which result in
tangible assets, such as brochures, which are recorded
as prepaid expenses and charged to expense as
consumed. Media production costs are also recorded
as prepaid expenses and charged to expense upon
the first airing of the advertisement. Advertising
expenses totaled $208 million, $214 million and $181
million in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. At
November 30, 2002 and 2001, the amount of advertising
costs included in prepaid expenses was not material.

Foreign Currency Translations and Transactions

For our foreign subsidiaries and affiliates using the
local currency as their functional currency, assets and
liabilities are translated at exchange rates in effect at
the balance sheet dates. Translation adjustments result-
ing from this process are reported in AOCI. Revenues
and expenses of these foreign subsidiaries and affiliates
are translated at weighted-average exchange rates for
the period. Exchange gains and losses arising from
transactions denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity involved are immedi-
ately included in our earnings.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing
net income by the weighted-average number of shares
of common stock outstanding during each period.
Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net



income by the weighted-average number of shares

of common stock, common stock equivalents and other
potentially dilutive securities outstanding during each
period. See Note 14,

Stock-Based Compensation

Pursuant to SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation,” we elected to use the intrinsic
value method of accounting for our employee and
director stock-based compensation awards. Accordingly,
we have not recognized compensation expense for our
noncompensatory employee and director stock option
awards. Our pro forma net income and earnings per
share for fiscal 2002 and 2001, had we elected 1o adopt
the fair value approach of SFAS No. 123, which charges
garnings for the estimated fair value of stock options,
would have been $391 million and $304 million and
$1.69 and $1.54, respectively, and would not have been
materially different from reported net income and earn-
ings per share for fiscal 2000.

As determined below, the weighted-average fair
values of options we granted during fiscal 2002, 2001
and 2000 were $12.16, $12.67 and $13.31 per share,
respectively, at the dates of grant. As recommended by
SFAS No. 123, the fair values of options were estimated
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following weighted-average assumptions for fiscal 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively; expected dividend yields
of 1.23%, 1.16% and 1.17%, expected volatility of
48.0%, 50.0% and 28.9%; risk free interest rates of
4.3%, 4.5% and 6.4%; and expected option life of six
years for all periods.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed
for use In estimating the fair value of traded options
that have no vesting or trading restrictions and are fully
transferable. In addition, option-pricing models require
the input of subjective assumptions, including expected
stock price volatility. Because our options have charac-
teristics different from those of traded options, the
existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable
single measure of the fair value of our options.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

As part of our ongoing control procedures, we moni-
tor concentrations of credit risk associated with financial
and other institutions with which we conduct significant
business. Credit risk, including counterparty nonperfor-
mance under derivative instruments, contingent obliga-
tions and new ship progress payment guarantees, is
considered minimal, as we primarily conduct business
with large, well-established financial institutions who
have long-term credit ratings of A or above and we seek
to diversify our counterparties. In addition, we have
established guidelines regarding credit ratings and

investment maturities that we follow to maintain safety

and liguidity. We do not anticipate nonperformance by
any of our significant counterparties.

We also monitor the creditworthiness of our cus-
tomers to which we grant credit terms in the normat
course of our business. Concentrations of credit risk
associated with these receivables are considered mini-
mal primarily due to their short maturities. We have
experienced only minimal credit losses on our trade
receivables. We do not normally require collateral or
other security to support normal credit sales. However,
we do normally require collateral and/or guarantees to
support notes receivable on significant asset sales and
new ship progress payments to shipyards.

Reclassifications
Reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts
to conform to the current year presentation.

Note 3—Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following
{in thousands}):

November 30,
_ 2002 2001
Ships ... ... ... ... .. $10,665,958 $ 8,892,412
Ships under construction . . .. 712,447 592,781
11,378,405 9,485,193
Land, buildings and improve-
ments, and port facilities . . 314,448 264,294
Transportation equipment
andother .............. 408,310 349,188
Total property and equipment 12,102,163 10,098,675

l.ess accumulated
depreciation and

amortization .. .......... (1,986,759) (1,708,445)

$10,115,404 $ 8,390,230

Capitalized interest, primarily on our ships under
construction, amounted to $39 million, $29 million and
$41 million in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Ships under construction include progress payments
for the construction of the ship, as well as design and
engineering fees, capitalized interest, construction
oversight costs and various owner supplied items. At
November 30, 2002, two ships with an aggregate net
book value of $623 million were pledged as collateral
pursuant to a $119 million note and a $463 million
contingent obligation (see Notes 6 and 8).

Maintenance and repair expenses and dry-dock
amortization were $175 million, $160 million and $132
million in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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Note 4—Impairment Charge

During fiscal 2002 and 2001, we reviewed our long-
lived assets and goodwill for which there were indications
of possible impairment or as required annually pursuant
to SFAS No. 142. As a resuit of these reviews, in fiscal
2002 we reduced the carrying value of one of our ships
by recording an impairment charge of $20 million. In
fiscal 2001, we recorded an impairment charge of
$140 million, which consisted principally of a $71 million
reduction in the carrying value of ships, a2 $36 million
write-off of Seabourn goodwill, a $15 million write-down
of a Holland America note receivable and a $11 million
loss on the sale of the Seabourn Goddess | and Il. The
impaired ships' and note receivable fair values were
based on third party appraisals, negotiations with unre-
lated third parties or other available evidence, and the
fair value of the impaired goodwill was based on our
estimates of discounted future cash flows.

Note 5—Investments In and Advances To Affiliates

On June 1, 2001, we sold our investment in Airtours
plc, which resulted in a nonoperating net gain of
$101 million and net cash proceeds of $492 million.
Cumulative foreign currency translation losses of
$59 million were reclassified from AOC! and included
in determining this 2001 net gain. We also recorded
a direct charge of $8 million to our retained earnings in
fiscal 2001, which represented our share of Airtours’
losses for April and May 2001, since Airtours results
were reported on a two-month lag.

in fiscal 2001, we sold our interest in CRC Holdings,
Inc. ("CRC") to an unrelated third party, which resuited
in a nonoperating net gain of $16 million and net cash
proceeds of $39 million. One of the members of our
Board of Directors was a principal shareholder in CRC.

Dividends received from affiliates were $13 million
and $16 million in fiscal 2001 and 2000, respectively,
which reduced the carrying value of our investments
in affiliates in accordance with the equity method
of accounting.

Income statement and segment information for
fiscal 2000 for our affiliated companies accounted for
using the equity method, including Airtours and Costa,
was as follows: revenues—$6.7 billion, gross margin—
$1.3 billion, operating income—3%5 million, depreciation
and amortization—$152 million, net income—3$20 million
and capital expenditures—$650 million. Since we sold
our interest in Airtours and CRC during fiscal 2001, no
data has been presented for fiscal 2002 and 2001.

Note 6—Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following
(in thousands):

November 30,
2002(a) 2001

Euro floating rate note,
collateralized by one Costa
ship, bearing interest at
euribor plus 0.5% (4.0% and
4.8% at November 30, 2002
and 2001, respectively), due
through 2008 . ... ... ......

Unsecured fixed rate notes,
bearing interest at rates
ranging from 6.15% to 7.7%,
due through 202801 . . ..

Unsecured floating rate euro
notes, bearing interest at rates
ranging from euribor plus
0.35% to euribor plus 0.53%
{3.6% to 4.0% and 3.9% to
4.9% at November 30, 2002
and 2001, respectively),
due 2005 and 2006 ..... ...

Unsecured fixed rate eurc notes,
bearing interest at 5.57%,
duein2006 ..............

Unsecured $1.4 billion revolving
credit facility, bearing interest
at libor plus 0.17% (1.6%
at November 30, 2002),
duein2006 ........... ...

Other ....... .. ... ... .....

Unsecured 2% convertible notes,
duein202% ...... .. ... ...

Unsecured zero-coupon
convertible notes, net of
discount, with a face value of
$1.05 billion, due in 2021 . . ..

$ 118,727 $ 125770

848,300 848,779

©80,377 604,068

287,195 266,223

50,000

44,488 29,833

600,000 600,000

501,945
2,976,618

820,944
3,160,611

Less portion due

withinone year ........... (148,642) (21,764)

$3,011,969 $2,954,854

(a) All borrowings are in U.S. dollars unless otherwise noted.
Euro denominated notes have been translated to U.S. dollars
at the period end exchange rates. At November 30, 2002
and 2001, 65% and 66% of our debt was U.S. dollar
denominated and 35% and 34% was euro denominated,
respectively.

{b) These notes are not redeemable prior to maturity.




Qur unsecured 2% convertible notes (“2% Notes")
and our zero-coupon convertible notes ("Zero-Coupon
Notes") are convertible into 15.3 million shares and
17.4 million shares, respectively, of our common stock.
Our 2% Notes are convertible at a conversion price
of $39.14 per share, subject to adjustment, during any
fiscal quarter for which the closing price of our common
stock is greater than $43.05 per share for a defined
duration of time.

Our Zero-Coupon Notes have a 3.75% vield to
maturity and are convertible during any fiscal quarter
for which the closing price of our common stock
reaches certain targeted levels for a defined duration
of time. These levels commenced at a low of $31.94
per share for the first quarter of fiscal 2002 and increase
at an annual rate of 3.75% thereafter, untit maturity.
The conditions for conversion of our 2% Notes or
Zero-Coupon Notes were not met during fiscal 2002
and 2007.

Subseqguent to April 14, 2008, we may redeem all or
a portion of our 2% Notes at their face value plus any
unpaid accrued interest, and subseguent to October 23,
2008, we may redeem all or a portion of our Zero-
Coupon Notes at their accreted value.

In addition, on April 15 of 2005, 2008 and 2011 our
2% Noteholders and on October 24 of 2006, 2008, 2011
and 2016 our Zero-Coupon Noteholders may require
us to repurchase all or a portion of the outstanding 2%
Notes at their face value plus any unpaid accrued inter-
est and the Zero-Coupon Notes at their accreted value.

Upon conversion, redemption or repurchase of our
2% Notes and Zero-Coupon Notes we may choose 10
deliver common stock, cash or 2 combination of cash
and common stock with a total value equal to the value
of the consideration otherwise deliverable. If our 2%
Notes and Zero-Coupcon Notes were to be put back to
us, we expect to settle them for cash and, accordingly,
they are not included in our diluted earnings per share
common stock calculations. However, no assurance
can be given that we will have sufficient liquidity to
make such cash payments. See Note 14.

In May 2001, Costa entered into a five-year 257.5
million euro {255.6 million U.S. dollars at the Novem-
ber 30, 2002 exchange rate) unsecured floating rate
euro denominated revolving credit facility, of which
$145 million was available at November 30, 2002.

Our $1.4 billion unsecured multi-currency revolving
credit facility matures in June 2006. This facility cur-
rently bears interest at libor/euribor plus 17 basis points
("BPS"), which interest rate spread over liborfeuribor
will vary based on changes to our senior unsecured
debt ratings, and provides for an undrawn facility fee of
gight BPS. Our commercial paper program is supported
by this revolving credit facitity and, accordingly, any
amounts outstanding under our commercial paper pro-
gram, none at November 30, 2002 and 2001, reduce
the aggregate amount available under this facility. At
November 30, 2002, $1.35 billion of this facility was
available. This facility and other of our loan agreements
contain caovenants that require us, among other things,
to maintain a minimum debt service coverage and
limits our debt to tangible capital ratio and the amount
of our secured indebtedness. In addition, our ability to
draw upon the then available portion of our $1.4 billion
credit facility could be terminated and we could alsoc be
required to repay the amounts outstanding under our
one collateralized and three unsecured euro notes, which
amounted to $722 million at November 30, 2002, if
our business suffers a material adverse change. At
November 30, 2002, we were in compliance with all
of our debt covenants.

At November 30, 2002, the scheduled annual maturi-
ties of our long-term debt was as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal
2003 . $ 148,642
2004 ... 127,985
2005 ... 907,648
2006 ... 1,387,209@
2007 . 22,833
Thereafter ... ... .. ... .. ... . . .. . . . ... 566,294
$3,160,611

(a) Includes $600 million of our 2% Notes in 2005 and $527 mil-
. lion of our Zero-Coupon Notes in 2006 based on the date
of the noteholders first put option.

Debt issuance costs are generally amortized to inter-
est expense using the straight-line method over the
term of the notes or 1o the noteholders first put option
date, whichever is earlier. in addition, all loan issue dis-
counts are amortized to interest expense using the
effective interest method over the term of the notes.
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Note 7—Commitments

Ship Commitments ,
A description of our ships under contract for construction at November 30, 2002 was as follows (in millicns, except
passenger capacity data):

Expected Estimated
) Service Passenger Total
Ship Date™ Shipyard Capacity? Cost®
CCL
Carnival GIOrY . .. . 7/03 Fincantieri 2,974 $ 510
Carnival Miracle ... ... . 3/04 Masa-Yards® 2,124 375
Carnival Valor . ... . 11/04 Fincantieri 2,974 510
Newbuild . .. . 1/06 Fincantieri 2,974 460
Total CCL ... 11,048 1,855
Holland America
OO eIdaM . e 7/03 Fincantieri* 1,848 410
Westerdam ... . 5/04 Fincantieri* 1,848 410
Newbuild ... 11/05 Fincantieri® 1,848 410
Newbuild . ... . 6/06 Fincantieri 1,848 390
Total Holland America . ... . .. .. . ' 7,392 1,620
Costa
Costa Mediterranea . .. .. .. .. e 6/03 Masa-Yards® 2,114 360
Costa FOMtUNA .« . .. o 12/03 Fincantieri® 2,720 440
Costa MaAGICE . . .o oo e e 11/04 Fincantieri® 2,720 460
Total Costa ... . e 7,554 1,280
Cunard
Queen Mary 2 . .. 1/04 Chantiers de
) I'Atlantique* 2,620 780
Newbuild ... 2/05 Fincantieri® 1,968 410
Total Cunard . . . ... 4,588 1,190
Total 30,580 $5,925

(1) The expected service date is the date the ship is currently expected to begin its first revenue generating cruise.

(2) In accordance with cruise industry practice, passenger capacity is calculated based on two passengers per cabin even though
some cabins can accommodate three or more passengers.

(3) Estimated total cost of the completed ship includes the contract price with the shipyard, design and engineering fees, capitalized
interest, construction oversight costs and various owner supplied items.

(4) These construction contracts are denominated in euros and have been fixed into U.S. dollars through the utilization of forward
foreign currency contracts. The $178 million of unrealized losses from these forward contracts has been recorded as fair value of
derivative contract liabilities on our November 30, 2002 balance sheet and are also included in the above estimated total cost of
these construction contracts. .

{5) These construction contracts are denominated in euros, which is Costa’s functional currency. The estimated total costs have been
translated into U.S. dollars using the November 30, 2002 exchange rate.

In connection with our ships under contract for con- Proposed Dual-Listed Company Transaction with
struction, we have paid approximately $712 million P&QO Princess Cruises plc (“P&QO Princess”)
through November 30, 2002 and anticipate paying the After a series of preconditional offers made to the
remaining estimated total cost as follows (in millions): shareholders of P&O Princess by us, commencing in

December 2001, on January 8, 2003 we entered into

Fiscal an agreement with P&QO Princess, the world'’s third

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, $1,630 largest cruise company, providing for a combination
.................................... 2,10 of both companies {the "Combined Group”} under a
------------------------------------ 1,140 dual-listed company ("DLC") structure.
------------------------------------ 330 if the DLC transaction is completed, it would create
$5,210 a combination of the two companies through a number

of contracts and certain amendments to our Articles
of Incorporation and By-Laws and to P&O Princess’




Memorandum and Articles of Association. The two
companies would retain their separate legal identities
and each company’s shares would continue to be pub-
licly traded on the New York Stock Exchange for us and
the London Stock Exchange for P&Q Princess. However,
both companies would operate as if they were a single
economic enterprise. The contracts governing the DLC
structure would provide that the boards of directors of
the two companies would be identical, the companies
would be managed by a unified senior management
tearn and that, as far as possible, P&O Princess’ and
our shareholders would be placed in substantially the
same economic position as if they held shares in a
single enterprise which owned all of the assets of both
companies. The net effect of the DLC transaction would
be that our existing shareholders would own an eco-
nomic interest equal to approximately 74% of the
Combined Group and the existing shareholders of P&Q
Princess would own an economic interest equal to
approximately 26% of the Combined Group. Also in
connection with the DLC transaction, we will be making
a Partial Share Offer ("PSO") for 20% of P&O Princess’
shares, which will enable P&QO Princess shareholders
to exchange P&QO Princess shares for our shares on the
basis of 0.3004 of our shares for each P&QO Princess
share up to, in aggregate, a maximum of 20% of PO
Princess issued share capital. If the maximum number of
P&Q Princess’ shares are exchanged under the PSO,
holders of our shares, including our new shareholders
who exchanged their P&O Princess shares for our shares
under the PSO, would own an economic interest equal
to approximately 79% of the Combined Group and
holders of P&QO Princess shares would own an economic
interest equal to approximately 21% of the Combined
Group. The PSO is conditional on, among other things,
the closing of the DLC transaction. Upon completion

of the DLC transaction, P&QO Princess will reorganize
and consolidate its share capital so that one share of
P&O Princess will have the same economic and voting
interest as one of our shares.

The completion of the DLC transaction between P&O
Princess and us is subject to approval by P&O Princess’
shareholders and our shareholders. No assurance can
be given that the DLC transaction will be completed
and, if it is completed, when completion will take place.
If the DLC transaction is not completed by September 30,
2003, either party can terminate the agreement if it is
not in material breach of its obligations. We have incurred
$30 million of transaction costs as of November 30,
2002, and continue to incur costs, which have been or
will be deferred in connection with the DLC transaction.
In the event a transaction with P&O Princess is not
consummated, we would be required to write off the
above $30 million plus all costs incurred and deferred
subsequent to November 30, 2002, resulting in an
estimated total write-off of approximately $45 million
to $50 million. If the DLC transaction or another

transaction with P&C Princess is completed by us,
these deferred costs, together with any additional direct
costs, which may be incurred, would be capitalized as
part of the transaction.

If our agreement with P&QO Princess is terminated
under certain circumstances, we would be required to
pay P&QO Princess a break fee of $49 million. These
circumstances include, among other things, our Board
of Directors withdrawing or adversely modifying its
recommendation to shareholders to approve the DLC
transaction, our Board of Directors recommending an
alternative acquisition proposal to shareholders, or our
shareholders failing to approve the DLC transaction if
a third-party acquisition proposal exists at the time of
our meeting or if we breach our exclusivity covenant
and a third party acguisition proposal with respect to us
is completed prior to July 2004. Similarly, P&QO Princess
would be obligated to pay us a break fee of $49 million
upon the occurrence of reciprocal circumstances.

If the DLC transaction is completed, we expect to
account for it as an acquisition of P&O Princess by us,
which will be accounted for using the purchase method.

Operating Leases

Rent expense under our operating leases, primarily
for office and warehouse space, was $15 million,
$13 million and $10 million in fiscal 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. At November 30, 2002, minimum
annual rentals for our operating leases, with initial or
remaining terms in excess of one year, were as follows
{in thousands):

Fiscal
2003 o $ 10,700
2004 ... 8,300
2005 ... 9,100
2008 ... 9,100
2007 .. 6,000
Thereafter .. ... ... . . ... .. .. .. ... ... 25,300
$ 69,500

Port Facifities and Other

At November 30, 2002, we had commitments through
2027, with initial or remaining terms in excess of one
year, to pay minimum amounts for our annual usage of
port facilities and other contractual commitments as
follows (in thousands):

Fiscal
2003 .. e $ 52,100
2004 . 38,800
2005 .. 25,300
2008 .. 25,800
2007 oo 27,100
Thereafter . ....... ... ... ... .. ... ..... 179,600
$348,700
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Travel Vouchers

Pursuant to CCL's and Holland America’'s settlement
of litigation, travel vouchers with face values of $10 to
$55 were required to be issued to qualified past passen-
gers. As of November 30, 2002, approximately $123
million of these travel vouchers are available to be used
for future travel prior to their expiration, principally in
fiscal 2005.

Note 8—Contingencies

Litigation

Several actions (collectively, the "ADA Complaints”)
have been filed against Costa, Cunard and Tours alleging
that they viclated the Americans with Disabilities Act
by failing to make certain cruise ships accessible to
individuals with disabilities. The plaintiffs seek injunctive
relief to require modifications to certain vessels to
increase accessibility to disabled passengers and fees
and costs. Costa and the plaintiffs have agreed to settle
this action, subject to court approval. Cunard and Tours
are in ongoing settlement negotiations with the plaintiffs.

Three actions {collectively, the “Facsimile Complaints”)
were filed against us on behalf of purported classes of
persons who received unsolicited advertisements via
facsimile, alleging that we and other defendants distrib-
uted unsolicited advertisements via facsimile in con-
travention of the U.S. Telephone Consumer Protection
Act. The plaintiffs seek to enjoin the sending of unsolic-
ited facsimile advertisements and statutory damages.
The advertisements referred to in the Facsimile Com-
plaints were not sent by us, but rather were distributed
by a professional faxing company at the behest of travel
agencies that referenced a CCL product. We do not
advertise directly to the traveling public through the use
of facsimile transmission.

The uftimate outcome of the pending ADA and Fac-
simile Complaints cannot be determined at this time.
We believe that we have meritorious defenses to these
claims and, accordingly, we intend to vigorously defend
against these actions.

Several actions filed in the U.S. District Court for the
Southern District of Florida against us and four of our
executive officers on behalf of a purported class of
persons who purchased our common stock were con-
solidated into one action in Florida (the “Stock Purchaser
Complaint”). The plaintiffs have claimed that statements
we made in public filings violated federal securities
laws and seek unspecified compensatory damages and
attorney and expert fees and costs. Recently, a magis-
trate judge recommended that our motion to dismiss
the Stock Purchaser Complaint be granted and that the
plaintiffs’ amended complaint be dismissed without
prejudice. However, because it was dismissed without
prejudice, the plaintiffs may file a new amended com-
plaint. Nevertheless, the parties have entered into
a memorandum of understanding settling the case

pending confirmatory discovery and judicial approval.
A substantial portion of the $3.4 million settlement
amount, which includes plaintiff's attorneys fees, will
be covered by insurance.

In February 2001, Holland America Line-USA, Inc.
{("HAL-USA"), our wholly-owned subsidiary, received a
grand jury subpoena requesting that it produce docu-
ments and records relating to the air emissions from
Holland America ships in Alaska. HAL-USA responded
to the subpoena. The ultimate outcome of this matter
cannot be determined at this time.

On August 17, 2002, an incident occurred in Juneau,
Alaska onboard Holland America’s Ryndam invalving
a wastewater discharge from the ship. As a result of
this incident, various Ryndam ship officers have received
grand jury subpoenas from the Office of the U.S. Attorney
in Anchorage, Alaska requesting that they appear before
a grand jury. One of the subpoenas also requests the
production of Holland America documents, which
Holland America is preducing. If the investigation results
in charges being filed, a judgment could include, among
other forms of relief, fines and debarment from federal
contracting, which would prohibit operations in Glacier
Bay National Park and Preserve during the period of
debarment. The State of Alaska is separately investi-
gating this incident. The ultimate cutcome of these
matters cannet be determined at this time.

Costa has instituted arbitration proceedings in ltaly
to confirm the validity of its decision not to deliver its
ship, the Costa Classica, to the shipyard of Cammeli
Laird Hoidings PLC (“Cammell Laird”) under a 79 mitlion
euro denominated contract for the conversion and
lengthening of the ship. Costa has also given notice of
termination of the contract. It is now expected that the
arbitration tribunal’s decision will be made in mid-2004
at the earliest. In the event that an award is given in
favor of Cammell Laird, the amount of damages, which
Costa will have to pay, if any, is not currently deter-
minable. The ultimate outcome of this matter cannot
be determined at this time.

In the normal course of our business, varicus other
claims and lawsuits have been filed or are pending
against us. Most of these claims and lawsuits are cov-
ered by insurance. We are not able to estimate the
impact or the ultimate outcome of any such actions,
which are not covered by insurance.

Contingent Obligations

At November 30, 2002, we had contingent obliga-
tions totaling $1.05 billion to participants in lease out
and lease back type transactions for three of our ships.
At the inception of the leases, the entire amount of the
contingent obligations was paid by us to major financial
institutions to enable them to directly pay these obiiga-
tions. Accordingly, these obligations were considered
extinguished, and neither funds nor the contingent
obligations have heen included on our balance sheets.




We would only be required to make any payments
under these lease contingent obligations in the remote
event of nonperformance by these financial institutions,
all of which have long-term credit ratings of AAA or AA.
In addition, we obtained a direct guarantee from another
AAA rated financial institution for $285 million of the
above noted contingent obligations, thereby reducing
even the remote exposure to this portion of the contin-
gent obligations. If the major financial institutions’ credit
ratings fall below AA-, we would be required to move

a majority of the funds from these financial institutions
to other highly-rated financia!l institutions. If our credit
rating falls below BBB, we would be required to provide
a standby letter of credit for $91 million, or alternatively
provide mortgages in the aggregate amount of $31 mil-
tion on two of our ships.

In the unlikely event that we were to terminate the
three lease agreements early or default on our obliga-
tions, we would, as of November 30, 2002 have to pay
a total of $180 million in stipulated damages. As of
November 30, 2002, $148 million of standby letters of
credit have been issued by a major financial institution
in order to provide further security for the payment of
these contingent stipulated damages. An additiona!
$40 million of standby letters of credit would be required
to be issued if our three credit ratings fall below A-/A3.
Between 2017 and 2022, we have the right to exercise
options that would terminate these transactions at no
cost to us. We entered into these three transactions in
order to receive $67 million, which was recorded as
deferred income on our balance sheets and is being
amortized to nonoperating income through 2022. Iin the
event we were to default under our $1.4 billion revolv-
ing credit facility, we would be required to post cash
collateral to support the stipulated damages standby
letters of credit.

Note 9—Income and Cther Taxes

We believe that substantially all of our income, with
the exception of our U.S. source income from the
transportation, hotel and tour businesses of Tours, is
exempt from U.S. federal income taxes. If we were
found not to qualify for exemption pursuant to applicable
income tax treaties or under the Internal Revenue Code
or if the income tax treaties or Internal Revenue Code
were to be changed in a manner adverse to us, a portion
of our income would become subject to taxation by
the U.S. at higher than normal corporate tax rates.

Some of our subsidiaries, including Costa and Tours,
are subject to foreign and/or U.S. income taxes. In fiscal
2002, we recognized a net $57 million income tax bene-
fit primarily due to a new ltalian investment incentive
law, which allowed Costa to receive a $51 million income
tax benefit based on contractual expenditures during
2002 on the construction of new ships. At November
30, 2002, Costa had a remaining net deferred tax asset
of approximately $45 million relating to the tax benefit

of the net operating loss carryforwards arising from this
incentive law, which expire in 2007. In fiscal 2001, we
recognized a $9 million income tax benefit from Costa
primarily due to changes in ltalian tax law.

We do not expect to incur income taxes on future
distributicns of undistributed earnings of foreign subsid-
iaries and, accordingly, no deferred income taxes have
been provided for the distribution of these earnings.

In addition to or in place of income taxes, virtually all
jurisdictions where our ships call, impose taxes based
on passenger counts, ship tonnage or some other
measure. These taxes, other than those directly charged
to and collected from passengers by us, are recorded
as operating expenses in the accompanying statements
of operations. )

Note 10—Shareholders’ Equity

Our Articles of Incorporation authorize our Board of
Directors, at their discretion, to issue up to 40 million
shares of our preferred stock. At November 30, 2002
and 2001, no preferred stock had been issued.

In February 2000, our Board of Directors authorized
the repurchase of up to $1 billion of our common stock.
As of November 30, 2001, we had repurchased 33.1
million shares of our common stock at a cost of $705
million pursuant to this authorization. In addition in 2001,
we received 761,000 shares of our common stock from
our chief executive officer valued at its quoted market
price of $23 million, which we recorded as treasury
stock, in payment of the exercise price for two million
shares of our common stock issued to him pursuant
to a stock option plan (see Note 13). In fiscal 2002, we
retired all of our treasury stock.

At November 30, 2002, there were 77.5 million shares
of our common stock reserved for issuance pursuant
to our convertible notes and our stock option, employee
stock purchase, restricted stock and dividend reinvest-
ment plans. During fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, we
declared cash dividends aggregating $0.42 per share
for each year.

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, AOCI included
cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments
which increased shareholders’ equity by $29 million
and decreased sharehoiders’ equity by $22 million,
respectively.

Note 11—Financial Instruments

We estimated the fair value of our financial instru-
ments through the use of public market prices, guotes
from financial institutions and other available information.
Considerable judgment is required in interpreting data
to develop estimates of fair value and, accordingly,
amounts are not necessarily indicative of the amounts
that we could realize in a current market exchange. Our
financial instruments are not held for trading or other
speculative purposes.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
The carrying amounts of our cash and cash equivalents
approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.

Other Assets

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, long-term other
assets included marketable securities held in rabbi trusts
for certain of our nonqualified benefit plans and notes
and other receivables, principally collateralized by a
ship, the former Nieuw Amsterdam. These assets had
carrying and fair values of $173 million at November 30,
2002 and $143 million at November 30, 2001. Fair values
were based on public market prices, estimated discounted
future cash flows or estimated fair value of collateral.

Long-Term Debt

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the fair value of
our long-term debt, including the current portion, was
$3.33 billion and $2.95 billion, respectively, which was
$166 million greater than and $26 million less than its
carrying value on those respéctive dates. The net differ-
ence between the fair value of our long-term debt and
its carrying value was due primarily to our issuance of
debt obligations at fixed interest rates that are below or
above market interest rates in existence at the meas-
urement dates. The fair values of our unsecured fixed
rate notes, convertible notes and unsecured 5.57%
euro notes were based on their public market prices.
The fair values of our other long-term debt were esti-
mated based on appropriate market interest rates being
applied to this debt.

Foreign Currency Comntracts

We have forward foreign currency contracts, desig-
nated as foreign currency fair value hedges, for seven
of our euro denominated shipbuilding contracts (see
Note 7). At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the fair value
of these forward contracts was an unrealized loss of
$178 millior and $567 million, respectively. These for-
werd contracts mature through 2005. The fair values of
our forward contracts were estimated based on prices
quoted by financial institutions for these instruments.

B A 2

Interest Rate Swaps

We have interest rate swap agreements designated
as fair value hedges whereby we receive fixed interest
rate payments in exchange for making variable interest
rate payments. At November 30, 2002 and 2001, these
interest rate swap agreements effectively changed $225
million of fixed rate debt with a weighted-average fixed
interest rate of 6.8% to libor-based floating rate debt.

In addition, we also have interest rate swap agree-
ments designated as cash flow hedges whereby we
receive variable interest rate payments in exchange for
making fixed interest rate payments. At November 30,
2002 and 2001, these interest rate swap agreements
effectively changed $468 million and $637 million,
respectively, of euribor floating rate debt to fixed rate
debt with a weighted-average fixed interest rate of
5.5% and 5.3%, respectively.

These interest rate swap agreements mature through
2006. At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the fair value
of our interest rate swaps was a net unrealized loss of
$0.1 million and $3.3 million, respectively. The fair values
of our interest rate swap agreements were estimated
based on appropriate market interest rates being applied
to these instruments.

Note 12—Segment Information

Our cruise segment included six cruise brands (five,
excluding Costa, prior to fiscal 2001), which have been
aggregated as a single reportable segment based on
the similarity of their economic and other characteristics.
Cruise revenues are comprised of sales of passenger
cruise tickets, which includes accommodations, meals
and most onboard activities, in some cases the sale
of air transportation to and from our cruise ships, and
the sale of certain onboard activities and other services.
The tour segment represents the transportation, hotel
and tour operations of Tours.

The significant accounting policies of the segments
are the same as those described in Note 2—" Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies.” Cruise revenues
included intersegment revenues, which primarily repre-
sent billings to the tour segment for the cruise portion of
a tour when a cruise is sold as a part of a tour package.




In addition, cruise and tour operating expenses included a cost allocation of certain corporate and other expenses.
Information for the cruise and tour segments for fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000 was as follows (in thousands):

Operating Depreciation
income and Capital Total
Revenues (loss) amortization  expenditures assets
2002
Cruise® . $4,229,124  $1,065,797( * $369,565 $1,943,565 $11,399,130
TOUr . 175,831 (13,401) 11,345 36,802 214,405
Intersegment elimination  ........ .. ... .. .. ... . (36,686)
Corporatel®) .. ... . ... (10,337) 1,433 115 721,313
$4,368,269 $1,042,059 $382,343 $1,986,482  $12,334,848
2001
Cruise® $4,357,942 § 958,273t $359,314 $ 801,453 $ 9,905,353
TOUM oo 229,483 (10,357)! 11,474 25,108 188,296
Affiliated operations'® . ... ... .. L. (44,024)
Intersegment elimination . ........ ... ... {51,674}
Corporatelel . . ... ... . (12,161) 1,436 7 1,469,903
$4,535,751 $ 891,731 $372,224 $ 826,568  $11,563,552
2000
CrUISE .o $3,578,372 $ 957,226 $276,483 $ 972,270  $ 9,093,646®
TOUr e 259,662 7,664 10,825 30,129 199,722
Affiliated operations . ....... .. .. ... L. 37,828 0 437,3N
Intersegment elimination . ... ... ... ..... ... (59,492)
Corporatefe) .. ... ... (19,760) 358 949 100,561
$3,778,542 $ 982,958 $287.667 $1,003,348  $ 9,831,320

{a) Cruise operating income included impairment charges of $20 million in 2002 and $134 million in 2001 and Tour operating loss

included $6 million in 2007 (see Note 4).

{b) In 2002 and 2001, the cruise segment information included Costa. At November 30, 2000, Costa’s total assets were included in
the cruise segment, but its 2000 results of operations were included in the affiliated operations segment (see Notes 2 and 17).

{c) Tour assets primarily included hotels in Alaska and the Canadian Yukon, luxury dayboats offering tours to the glaciers of Alaska
and the Yukon River, motor coaches used for sightseeing and charters in the states of Washington and Alaska, British Columbia,
Canada and the Canadian Yukon and private, domed rail cars, which are run on the Alaska Railroad between Anchorage and

Fairbanks.

{(d) On June 1, 2001, we sold our investment in Airtours. Accordingly, we did not record any equity in the earnings or losses from
the affiliated operations of Airtours after our guarter ended May 31, 2001.

{e) Operating loss represented corporate expenses not allocated to segments. Corporate assets primarily included cash, cash equiv-
alents, short-term investments, debt issuance costs, deferred P&O Princess acquisition costs and transportation assets.

See Note 5 for affiliated operations segment infor-
mation, which were not included in our consolidated
operations.

Foreign revenues for our cruise brands, excluding
Costa in 2000, represent sales generated from outside
the U.S. primarily by foreign tour operators and foreign
travel agencies. The majority of these foreign revenues
are from ltaly, Canada, United Kingdom, France, Germany
and Spain. Substantially all of our long-lived assets are
located outside of the U.S. and consist principally of our
goodwill, ships and ships under construction.

Revenue information by geographic area for fiscal
2002, 2001 and 2000 was as follows (in thousands):

2002 2001 2000
Us. ... $3,292,533 33,489,913 $3,180,667
Foreign ........ 1,075,736 1,045,838 597,875
$4,368,269 $4,535,751 $3,778,542

Note 13—Benefit Plans

Stock Option Plans

We have stock option plans primarily for supervisory
and management level employees and members of our
Board of Directors. The plans are administered by a
committee of three of our directors (the "Committee”)
which determines who is eligible to participate, the
number of shares for which options are to be granted
and the amounts that may be exercised within a speci-
fied term. The option exercise price is generally set
by the Committee at 100% of the fair market value of
the commeon stock on the date the option is granted.
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Substantially all options granted during fiscal 2002,
2001 and 2000 were granted at an exercise price per
share equal to the fair market value of our common
stock on the date of grant. Employee options generally
have vested evenly over five years and have a ten year
term and director options granted prior to fiscal 2001
have vested immediately and have a five or ten year

Average Exercise Price

term. Director options granted subsequent to fiscal 2000
will vest evenly over five years and have a ten year
term. At November 30, 2002, options for 40.7 million
shares were available for future grants under the above
plans. A summary of the activity and status of our stock
option plans was as follows:

Weighted-
Number of Options

Per Share Years Ended November 30,
2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000
Qutstanding options—beginning of year ......... ... .. $28.95 32680 $22.70 12,774,293 8,840,793 6,617,168
Options granted . ........... ... .. .. .. $26.54 $26.44 $35.92 33,000 6,580,250 2,810,575
Options exercised .. ....... ... . ... . . ... . ... $14.35 $11.70 $1343 (404,615} (2,218,075) {244,850)
Options canceled . ........ .. .. .. ... ... ... ... .... $32.80 $35.156  $35.91 (573,720)  (428,675) {342,100)
Qutstanding options—end of year ... ... e $29.26 $28.95 $26.80 11,828,958 12,774,293 8,840,793
Options exercisable—end of year ...... ... ... ..... .. $28.71 $2596 $15.82 4,775,824 2,972,498 4,042,452

Information with respect to outstanding and exercisable stock options at November 30, 2002 was as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-  Weighted- Weighted-

Average Average Average
Exercise Remaining Exercise Exercise
Price Range Shares Life (Years) Price Shares Price
$ 19485 225 . . 32,980 & $ 2.06 32,980 $ 2.08
$ B.94-310.31 . . 17,300 0.7 $ 9.76 17,300 $ 976
$10.69-815.00 ... ... ... 666,050 23 $11.32 666,050 $11.32
$16.28-822.57 ... 3,801,084 8.1 $21.66 1,236,830 $20.75
$24.63-$27.78 . ... 1,182,894 6.3 $26.24 667,294 $26.35
$28.21-8$34.88 . . . ... 3,070,500 8.1 $30.05 673,100 $30.47
$36.72-841.34 e 102,000 58 $38.09 77.200 $38.05
$4356-348.56 .. ... 2,856,150 6.7 $44.36 1,405,140 $44.57
Total .. 11,828,958 7.2 $29.26 4,775,894 $28.71

(a) These stock options do not have an expiration date.

Restricted Stock Plan

We have a restricted stock plan under which three
executive officers have been issued restricted shares
of our common stock. These shares have the same
rights as our common stock, except for restriction and
forfeiture provisions. During fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000,
150,000 shares of common stock were issued each
year, which were valued at $4 million, $5 million and
$6 million, respectively. Unearned stock compensation
was recorded within shareholders’ equity at the date of
award based on the quoted market price of the shares
on the date of grant and is amortized to expense using
the straight-line method from the grant date through
the vesting date. These shares vest five years after the
grant date. As of November 30, 2002 and 2001 there
were 750,000 shares and 647,000 shares, respectively,
issued under the plan which remain to be vested.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

We have one qualified and one nongualified defined
benefit pension plan that are available to full-time CCL
and corporate shoreside employees (the “Shoreside
Plans”), who were employed by CCL or corporate before
January 1, 1998. Our funding policy for this qualified
plan is to annually contribute at least the amount required
under the applicable labor regulations. The nonqualified
plan is unfunded. In addition, we have five nonqualified
defined benefit plans, one for the CCL shipboard
employees, except for deck and engine officers, two
for Holland America shipboard employees, except for
officers, one for certain Holland America shipboard
officers, and one supplemental executive retirement
plan ("SERP") in which two executive officers currently
participate. The Carnival shipboard nongualified plan
is funded by contributions into a rabbi trust and the
Holland America and SERP plans, are unfunded. In




addition, Cunard Line Limited participated in an industry-
wide merchant navy officers ("MNQO") defined benefit
plan that is available to certain Cunard shipboard offi-
cers. Our MNO plan expense is based on the amount
of contributions required by the plan. Total expense for
these defined benefit pension plans was $11 million,
$8 miilion and $6 million in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

A minimum pension liability adjustment is required
when the actuarial present value of accumulated bene-
fits exceeds plan assets and accrued pension liabilities.
At Novermber 30, 2002 and 2001, the CCL shipboard
plan and the Shoreside Plans have aggregated additional
minimum pension liability adjustments, less allowable
intangible assets, of $14.7 million and $5.5 million,
respectively, which are included in AOCI.

Defined Contribution Plans
We have several defined contribution plans available
to substantially all U.S. and Canadian employees, to

Cunard’s United Kingdom employees, to Seabourn’s
Scandinavian shipboard officers and to CCL's shipboard
deck and engine officers. We contribute to these plans
based on employee contributions, salary levels and
length of service. Total expense relating to these plans
was $3 million in both fiscal 2002 and 2001 and $7 million
in fiscal 2000.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which is
authorized to issue up to 4,000,000 shares of our com-
mon stock to substantially all of our employees. The
purchase price is derived from a formula based on 85%
of the fair market value of our common stock during
the six-month purchase period, as defined. During fiscal
2002, 2001 and 2000, we issued 62,223, 82,733 and
171,886 shares, respectively, at a weighted-average
share price of $23.92, $21.94 and $26.36, respectively,
under this plan.

Note 14—Earnings Per Share

Our basic and diluted earnings per share were computed as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Years Ended November 30,

2002 2001 2000
NETINCOME . $1,015,941 $926,200 $965,458
Weighted-average common shares outstanding .. ... .. ... ... .. 586,567 585,064 599,665
Dilutive effect of stock plans . . ... . .. 1,489 1,798 2,247
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding ... ... .. ... . . . 588,056 586,862 601,912

Basicearningspershare . ........... .. ... .. .. ..

$ 172 ¢ 158 $ 1.1

Diluted earnings pershare ... ... ... .. . . ... .. ... .. ...

e $ 173 $ 158 § 1.60

During fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, the exercise
prices for 6.0 million, 5.4 million and 4.4 million options,
respectively, were greater than the average fair market
prices of our common stock for those periods and,
consequently, were excluded from our diluted earnings
per share computations since they were anti-dilutive.

Note 15—Supplemental Cash Flow Information

In addition, our 2002 and 2001 diluted earnings per
share computation did not include 32.7 million shares of
our common stock issuable upon conversion of our 2%
Notes and Zero-Coupon Notes, as this common stock
was not issuable under the contingent conversion pro-
visions of these debt instruments (see Note 6).

Years Ended November 30,

{in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Cash paid (received) for
Interest, net of amount capitalized ... .. ... .. L $110,148 $109,321  $40,431
INCOME taXES, NBL . . . $ 19 $ 3931 § (800)

Noncash investing and financing activities

Common stock received as payment of stock option exercise price
Notes received upon the sale of the Nieuw Amsterdam ... ..

$ 22,500
$84,500
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Note 16—Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2001, SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” was
issued. SFAS No. 144 requires (i} the recognition and
measurement of the impairment of long-lived assets
to be held and used and {ii) the measurement of long-
lived assets to be held for sale. We have completed
our review of SFAS No. 144 and its adoption on
December 1, 2002 did not have a material effect on
our financial statements.

In June 2002, SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” was issued.
SFAS No. 146 requires that liabilities for costs associ-
ated with an exit activity or disposal of long-lived assets
be recognized when the liabilities are incurred and can
be measured at fair value. SFAS No. 146 is effective
for us for any exit or disposal activities that are initiated
after December 31, 2002.

In November 2002, Financial Accounting Standards
Board Interpretation ("FIN") No. 45, "Guarantor’s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantors,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others” was issued. FIN No. 45 requires that upon
issuance of a guarantee, the guarantor must recognize
a liability for the fair value of the obligation it assumes
under the guarantee. Guarantors will also be required
to meet expanded disclosure obligations. The initial
recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45
are effective for guarantees issued or modified after
December 31, 2002, The disclosure requirements are
effective for annual and interim financial statements
that end after December 15, 2002.

In December 2002, SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—
an amendment of SFAS No. 123" was issued. SFAS
No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123 to provide alternative
methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair
value based method of accounting for stock-based
employee and director compensation. In addition, this
statement amends the disclosure requirements of
SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both
annual and interim financial statements about the
method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation and the effect of the method used on
reported results. SFAS No. 148 is effective for annual
financial statements for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2002 and for interim financial state-
ments commencing after such date.

Note 17—Costa Acquisition

From June 1997 through September 28, 2000, we
owned 50% of Costa. On September 29, 2000, we
acquired the remaining 50% interesf in Costa from
Airtours at a cost of $511 million. Substantially ail of
the purchase price was funded by euro denominated
borrowings. We accounted for this transaction using
the purchase accounting method. Had the above trans-
action occurred on December 1, 1999, our unaudited
consolidated revenues for fiscal 2000 would have been
approximately $4.3 billion. The impact on our unaudited
consolidated net income and earnings per share for
fiscal 2000 would not have been material.




Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Carnival Corporation

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations,
cash flows and shareholders’ equity present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Carnival Corporation
and its subsidiaries at November 30, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended November 30, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2, the Company changed its method of accounting for derivative instruments and hedging
activities in 2001 and ceased amortizing goodwill in 2002,

%G%MWL L=

Miami, Florida
January 29, 2003
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Management’s Discussion and Amaﬂygig of

Carniva! Corpcration

Cautionary Note Concerning Factors That May
Affect Future Results

Certain statements contained in this 2002 Annual
Report are "forward-looking statements” that involve
risks, uncertainties and assumptions with respect to us,
including certain statements concerning future results,
plans and goals and other events which have not yet
occurred. These statements are intended to qualify for
the safe harbors from liability provided by Section 27A
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section
21E of the Exchange Act. You can find many (but not
all) of these statements by looking for words like “will,”
expects,” “anticipates,” "fore-

" “plans,” and "estimates”

1) "o

“may,” "believes,
cast,” "future,” “intends,
and for similar expressions.

Because forward-looking statements, including those
which may impact the forecasting of our net revenue
yields, booking levels, pricing, occupancy, operating,
financing and tax costs, estimates of ship depreciable
lives and residual values or business prospects, involve
risks and uncertainties, there are many factors that could
cause our actual results, performance or achievements
to differ materially from those expressed or implied in
this 2002 Annual Report. These factors include, but are
not limited to, the following:

"o

"o

o general economic and business conditions, which
may irnpact levels of disposable income of
consumers and the net revenue vields for our
cruise brands;

Q

conditions in the cruise and land-based vacation
industries, including competition from other cruise
ship operators and providers of other vacation
alternatives and increases in capacity offered by
cruise ship and land-based vacation alternatives;

o

the impact of operating internationally;

[2]

the international political and economic climate,
armed conflict, terrorist attacks, availability of air
service and other world events and adverse public-
ity and their impact on the demand for cruises;

o

accidents and other incidents at sea affecting the
health, safety, security and vacation satisfaction
of passengers;

s}

our ahility to implement our shipbuilding programs
and brand strategies and to continue to expand our
businesses worldwide;

5]

our ability to attract and retain shipboard crew and
maintain good relations with employee unions;

© our ability to obtain financing on terms that are
favorable or consistent with our expectations;

e the impact of changes in operating and financing
costs, including changes in foreign currency and
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interest rates and, fuel, food, insurance and secu-
rity costs;

° changes in the tax, environmental, health, safety,
security and other regulatory regimes under which
we operate;

o continued availability of attractive port destinations;

o our ability to successfully implement cost improve-
ment plans and to integrate business acquisitions;

o continuing financial viability of our travel agent
distribution system;

o weather patterns or natural disasters; and

o the ability of a small group of shareholders effec-
tively to control the outcome of shareholder voting.

Forward-looking statements should not be relied
upon as a prediction of actual results. Subject to
any continuing obligations under applicable law, we
expressly disclaim any obligation to disseminate any
updates or revisions to any such forward-looking state-
ments to reflect any change in expectations or events,
conditions or circumstances on which any such state-
ments are based.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our critical accounting estimates are those which we
believe require our most significant judgments about
the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. A
discussion of our critical accounting estimates, the
underlying judgments and uncertainties used to make
them and the likelihood that materially different estimates
would be reported under different conditions or using
different assumptions, is set forth below:

Ship Accounting

Our most significant assets are our ships and ships
under construction, which represent 78% of our total
assets. We make several critical accounting estimates
dealing with our ship accounting. First, we compute our
ships’ depreciation expense, which requires us to esti-
mate the average useful life of each of our ships, as
well as their residual values. Secondly, we account for
ship improvement costs by capitalizing those costs,
which we believe will add value to our ships and depre-
ciate those improvements over their estimated useful
lives. Finalty, we account for the replacement or refur-
bishment of our ship components and recognize the
resulting gain or loss in our results of operations.

We determine the average useful lives of our ships
based primarily on our estimates of the average useful
lives of the ships’ major component systems, such
as cabins, main diesels, main electric, superstructure
and hull. In addition, we consider, among other things,
the impact of anticipated technological changes, long-
term vacation market conditions and competition and




historical useful lives of similarly-built ships. We have
estimated our new ships’ average useful lives at 30
years and their residual values at 15% of our original
ship cost.

Given the very large and complex nature of our ships,
all the above ship accounting estimates require consid-
erable judgment and are inherently uncertain. We do
not have cost segregation studies performed to speci-
fically componentize our ship systems; therefore, our
overall estimates of the relative costs of these compo-
nent systems are based principally on general and tech-
nical information known about major ship component
system lives and our knowledge of the cruise industry.
In addition, we do not identify and track the deprecia-
tion of specific component systems, but instead utilize
estimates when determining the net cost basis of
assets being replaced or refurbished. If materially differ-
ent conditions existed, or if we materially changed
our assumptions of ship lives and residual values, our
depreciation expense, gain or loss on replacement or
refurbishment of ship assets and net book value of our
ships would be materially different. In addition, if we
change our assumptions in making our determinations
as to whether improvements to a ship add value, the
amounts we expense €ach year as repair and mainte-
nance costs could increase, partially offset by a decrease
in depreciation expense, as less costs would have been
initially capitalized to our ships. Our fiscal 2002 ship
depreciation expense would have increased by approxi-
mately $10 million for every year we reduced our esti-
mated average 30 year ship useful life. In addition, if
our ships were estimated to have no residual value, our
fiscal 2002 depreciation expense would have increased
by approximately $45 million.

We believe that the estimates we made for ship
accounting purposes are reasonable and our methods
are consistently applied and, accordingly, result in
depreciation expense that is based on a rational and
systematic method to equitably allocate the costs of
our ships to the periods during which services are
obtained from their use. in addition, we believe that
the estimates we made are reasonable and our methods
consistently applied (1) in determining the overall rela-
tive costs of our ships’ component systems; (2) in
determining which ship improvement costs add value
to our ships; and (3) in determining the net cost basis of
ship component assets being replaced or refurbished.

Finally, we believe our critical ship accounting estimates

are generally comparable with those of other major
cruise companies.

Asset Impairment

Our review of our long-lived assets, principally ships
and, prior to fiscal 2002, goodwill, required us to initially
estimate the undiscounted future cash flow of these
assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may

not be fully recoverable. If such analysis indicated

that a possible impairment may exist, as described in
Note 2, “"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—
Property and Equipment” in the accompanying financial
statements, we are required to then estimate the fair
value of the asset, principally determined either by third
party appraisals, sales price negotiations and estimated
discounted future cash flows, which includes making
estimates of the timing of the future cash flows, dis-
count rates and reflecting varying degrees of perceived
risk. In addition, commencing in fiscal 2002 upon the
adoption of SFAS No. 142, we are also required to
estimate the fair value of our reporting units, such as
our cruise lines which have been allocated goodwill,

at least annually to determine if our goodwill has
been impaired.

The determination of fair value includes numerous
uncertainties, unless a viable actively traded market
exists for the asset or for a comparable reporting unit,
which is usually not the case for cruise ships and cruise
lines. For example, in determining fair values of ships
and cruise lines utilizing discounted forecasted cash
flows, significant judgments are made concerning,
among other things, future net revenue vields, operating,
selling and administrative costs per available berth day,
interest and discount rates, cruise itinerafies, ship addi-
tions and retirements, technological chianges, consumer
demand, governmental regulations and the effects
of competition. In addition, third pafty appraisers are
sometimes used to determine fair values and some of
their valuation methodologies are also subject to simitar
types of uncertainties. We believe that we have made
reasonable estimates and judgments in determining
whether our long-lived assets and goodwill have been
impaired. However, if there is a material change in the
assumptions used in our determination of fair value or
if there is a material change in the conditions or circum-
stances influencing fair value, we could be required to
recognize a material impairment charge.

Contingencies

We perif)dically assess the potential liabilities related
to any lawsuits or claims brought against us, as well as
for other known unasserted claims, including environ-
mental, legal and tax matters. While it is typicaily very
difficult to determine the timing and ultimate outcome
of these matters, we use our best judgment to deter-
mine if it is probable that we will incur an expense related
to the settlement or final adjudication of such matters
and whether a reasonable estimation of such probable
loss, if any, can be made. In assessing probable losses,
we make estimates of the amount of insurance recov-
eries, if any. We accrue a liability when we believe a
loss is probable and the amount of the loss can be rea-
sonably estimated, in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” as
amended. See Note 8 in the accompanying financial
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statements for additional information concerning our
contingencies.

Given the inherent uncertainty related to the even-
tual outcome of these matters and potential insurance
recoveries, 't is possible that all or some of these mat-
ters may be resclved for amounts materially different
from any provisions or disclosures that we may have
made with respect to their resolution. In addition as
new information becomes available, we may need to
reassess the amount of probable liability that needs to
be accrued related to our contingencies. All such revi-
sions in our estimates could materially impact our
results of operations and financial position.

Propesed Exposure Draft

In June 2001, the Accounting Standards Executive
Committee issued a Statement of Position exposure
draft, entitled “Accounting for Certain Costs and
Activities Related to Property, Plant and Equipment”
(“Proposed SOP”). If issued in its current form, the
Proposed SOP would require, among other things,
significant changes to our ship accounting. Specifically,
we would be required to adopt the component method
of accounting for our ships, which may require us,
among other things, to maintain very detailed historical
cost records for the components of our ships and may
result in changes in the amount and timing of deprecia-
tion and repair and maintenance expenses and the
amount of gain or loss recognized on the replacement
or refurbishment of ship component parts. In addition,
we would have to expense dry-dock costs as incurred
instead of amortizing our costs to expense generally

over one year. Finally, we would have to treat liquidated

Financial Condition and Results of Operations contmued

damages received from shipyards for delay delivery
damages as a reduction to our ships’ cost basis instead
of our current treatment of recording liquidated damages
as nonoperating income, since they are a reimburse-
ment for expenses incurred and lost profits. We have
not completed an analysis of the impact this Proposed
SOP would have on our financial statements, as we are
uncertain whether, or in what form, this Proposed SOP
will be adopted.

Results of Operations

We earn our cruise revenues primarily from the
following:

e the sale of passenger cruise tickets, which includes
accommodations, meals, and most onboard activities,

e the sale of air transportation to and from our cruise
ships, and

e the sale of goods and services on board our cruise
ships, such as casino gaming, bar sales, gift shop
and photo sales, shore excursions and spa services.

We also derive revenues from the tour and related
operations of Tours.

For segment information related to our revenues,
operating income and other financial information see
Note 12 in the accompanying financial statements.
Operations data expressed as a percentage of total
revenues and selected statistical information were
as follows:

Years Ended November 30,

2002 2001 2000
ReVenUES . . . 100% 100% 100%
Costs and Expenses
OPEIAtING . . 53 54 54
Selling and administrative . ... ... 14 14 13
Depreciation and amortization ... .. ... .. 9 8 8
Impairment charge . .. ... e 3
Loss {income) from affiliated operations, net . ... .. ... .. .. .. ... .. 1 Mm
76 80 74
Operating INCOME . . .. .o 24 20 26
Nonoperating Expense .. ... . e {2}
Income Before Income Taxes . .. ... . 22 20 26
Income Tax Benefit, Net . . . .. .. . 1
NEetINCOME . . . 23% 20% 26%
Selected Statistical Information (in thousands, except occupancy)
Passengers Carmied . . .. 3,548 3,385 2,669

Available lower berthdays . ........ ... . ... .. ... .....
OCCUPanCy PErcentages ... oo e i

..................... 21,436 20,685 16,888
..................... 105.2% 104.7% 105.4%



Commencing in fiscal 2001, our statements of opera-
tions and selected statistical information included the
consolidation of Costa’s results of operations. In fiscal
2000, our 50% interest in Costa's results of operations
were recorded in affiliated operations and were not
included in our 2000 statistical information.

General

Our cruise and tour operations experience varying
degrees of seasonality. Our revenue from the sale of
passenger tickets for our cruise operations is moderately
seasonal. Historically, demand for cruises has been
greatest during the summer months. Tour's revenues
are highly seasonal, with a vast majority of its revenues
generated during the late spring and summer months
in conjunction with the Alaska cruise season.

We currently do not accumulate and report all costs
separately for our onboard and other revenue producing
activities because we view these costs principally as
part of the overall cruise services provided to our pas-
sengers. We primarily use, and intend to continue to use,
other metrics to measure our cruise segment perform-
ance and help manage this business, instead of utilizing
gross margin analysis. However, we intend to commence
segregating these revenues and their related costs
and expenses within our consolidated statements of
operations for the quarter ending August 31, 2003.

The year over year percentage increase in our average
passenger capacity, resulting primarily from new ships
entering service, for fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005 is cur-
rently expected to be approximately 17.6%, 16.0% and
10.2%, respectively.

As discussed in Note 7 in the accompanying financial
statements, we have a proposed DLC transaction with
P&O Princess, which is subject to the approval by P&0O
Princess’ shareholders and our shareholders. If the DLC
transaction is completed, the Combined Group will be
the largest cruise vacation group in the world, based
on revenues, passengers carried and available capacity.
As of January 31, 2003, the Combined Group would
have had a fleet of 65 cruise ships offering 99,982
lower berths, with 18 additional cruise ships having
42,260 lower berths scheduled to be added over the
next three and a half years.

See the Liguidity and Capital Resources section below
for additional discussion of the proposed DLC transaction.

Outlook For Fiscal 2003 (“2003™)

Since the start of the calendar year, booking volumes
have been less than expected. Year to date booking
volumes for 2003 are approximately equal to last year's
levels, but have not increased commensurate with the
increase in our 2003 capacity. We believe bookings in
2003 continue to be impacted by the uncertain eco-
nomic environment and concerns regarding & war with
Irag compounded by security alerts issued by various
national governments. These factors have caused us to

reduce cruise pricing to stimulate incremental demand
for the first and second quarters.

For the recently completed first quarter, we expect
net revenue yields to be approximately equal to last
year's levels. The current environment for travel contin-
ues to have the most significant effect on our second
quarter 2003 bookings. The uncertainty regarding a
possible war with Irag is causing further deterioration
in pricing for the second guarter beyond that indicated
in our last guidance. Because the bocking pattern has
moved much closer to sailing and because of the uncer-
tainty regarding the geopolitical situation, we are not
able to give specific guidance for second quarter net
revenue vields, other than, we expect them to be less
than last year. The commencement of a war with Irag
would likely have a further negative impact on second
quarter net revenue yields.

With respect to costs, we continue to expect our
cost per available berth day in the first quarter, exclud-
ing air costs and commissions, to be up approximately
6-8% as compared to last year's levels. For the second
guarter, we continue to expect cost per available berth
day to be up approximately 10-12% as compared to
last year’s levels. As previously disclosed, our higher
cost per available berth day in the first half of the year
is due primarily to increased fuel costs compounded by
the front loading of advertising costs, as well as, higher
insurance, environmentai, and security costs.

We still expect 16 record nonoperating income of
approximately $0.03 per share for insurance recoveries
in the first quarter of 2003.

For the second half of 2003, booking volumes remain
ahead of last year’s levels but not commensurate with
the increase in capacity expected for the second half
of the year. Prices on these bookings remain slightly
below that of the prior year. Because of the close in
booking pattern and the uncertain geopolitical environ-
ment, it is too early to give net revenue yield guidance
for the remainder of 2003. Commencement of a war
with Iraq, subject to the duration of such a war, would
likely have a negative impact on net revenue vields for
the second half of 2003. Excluding the possible impact
of higher fuel costs, operating cost per available berth
day in the second half of 2003 is expected to be down
slightly as compared to the prior year.

Fiscal 2002 (“2002") Compared to
Fiscal 2001 (“2001™)

Revenues

Revenues decreased $167 million, or 3.7%, in 2002
compared to 2001, Cruise revenues decreased $129
million, or 3.0%, to $4.23 billion in 2002 from $4.36 billion
in 2001. Our cruise revenue change resulted from a
7.0% decrease in our gross revenue per passenger
cruise day, partially offset by a 3.6% increase in pas-
senger capacity and a 0.5% increase in our occupancy
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rate. This decrease in our gross revenue per passenger
cruise day was primarily caused by a significant decline
in the numker of guests purchasing air transportation
from us in 2002 compared to 2001. When a guest
elects to provide his or her own transportation, rather
than purchasing air transportation from us, both our
cruise revenues and operating expenses decrease by
approximately the same amount. Also adding to the
reduction in gross revenue per passenger cruise day
was the adverse impact of the September 11, 2001
events, which resulted in lower cruise ticket prices. Net
revenue vield (net revenue per available berth day after
deducting the cost of air transportation, travel agent
commissions and other direct costs of sales) was down
2.7% compared to 2001.

Our cruise revenues discussed above included onboard
and other revenues such as bar sales, casino gaming,
shore excursions, gift shop and spa sales, photo sales
and pre-and post-cruise land packages. These activities
are either performed directly by us or by independent
concessionaires, from which we collect a percentage of
their revenues. tn 2002 and 2001, onboard and other
revenues represented 20.9% and 19.0%, respectively,
of our cruise revenues.

Tour revenues decreased $54 million, or 23.4%, to
$176 million in 2002 from $228 million in 2001 principally
due to a lower number of Alaska and Canadian Yukon
cruise/tours sold. This revenue decrease was primarily
as a result of one less ship offering land tours to its
guests in 2002 compared to 2001 and increased com-
petition. {n addition, three isolated cancellations of
Holland America Alaska cruises in 2002 resulting prima-
rily from mechanical malfunctions also contributed to
this decrease in revenues.

Our tour segment’s operating income decreased from
$10 million in 1999 to an operating loss of $13 million
in 2002. This decrease was primarily the result of
increased competition. Although our tour segment is
not material to our consolidated results, it is an integral
part of our Alaska cruise/tour programs. Accordingly,
we recently have and are continuing to take steps to
upgrade the attractiveness of certain of our tour assets.
Specifically, we have entered into contracts for the
construction of eight new domed rail cars and we also
expect to purchase additional motor coaches, renovate
and expand two hotels and add new attractive tour desti-
nations to our programs, such as Kluane National Park.

Costs and Expenses

Operating expenses decreased $157 million, or 6.4%,
in 2002 compared to 2001. Cruise operating costs
decreased by $130 million, or 5.6%, to $2.20 billion in
2002 from $2.33 billion in 2001. Approximately $116
million of this decrease was due to reduced air travel and
related costs primarily due to fewer guests purchasing
air transportation through us, and $41 million was prima-
rily due to lower commissions because of lower cruise
revenues. This decrease was partially offset by an

increase in fuel and other cruise operating expenses,
which was largely due to costs associated with our 3.6%
increase in passenger capacity. In addition, as a result
of having developed and commencing the implementa-
tion of a worldwide environmental compliance program
in 2002, we began to incur additional environmental
compliance costs, which were not material in 2002, but
are expected to reach approximately $10 million annu-
ally starting in 2003. Excluding air travel costs, travel
agent commissions and other direct costs of sales,
cruise operating costs per available berth day decreased
1.6%, partially as a result of the cost reduction initia-
tives we undertook after the events of September 11,
2001. Tour operating expenses decreased $42 million,
or 22.3%, to $145 million in 2002 from $187 million

in 2001 principally due to the reduction in the number
of cruiseftours sold.

Selling and administrative expenses decreased
$7 million, or 1.1%, to $612 million in 2002 from $619
million in 2001. Selling and administrative expenses
decreased in 2002 primarily because of our 3.9%
decrease in selling and administrative costs per avail-
able berth day, partially offset by additional expenses
associated with our 3.6% increase in passenger capac-
ity. Our costs per available berth day decreased partially
because of the cost containment actions taken after
September 11, 2001.

Depreciation and amortization increased by $10 million,
or 2.7%, to $382 million in 2002 from $372 million in
2001. Depreciation and amortization in 2002 compared
to 2001 increased by $30 million primarily as a result
of the expansion of our fleet and ship improvement
expenditures, partially offset by the elimination of $20
million of annual goodwill amortization upon our adoption
of SFAS No. 142 on December 1, 2001 (see Note 2).

See Note 4 in the accompanying financial statements
for a discussion of the 2002 and 2001 impairment charge.

Affililated Operations

During 2001, we recorded $44 million of losses from
affiliated operations for our portion of Airtours’ losses.
On June 1, 2001 we sold our investment in Airtours
and, accordingly, we ceased recording Airtours resulits
as of the end of our second quarter of 2001.

Nonoperating (Expense) income

Interest income decreased by $2 million in 2002
compared to 2001, which was comprised of a $25 mil-
lion reduction in interest income due to lower average
interest rates, partially offset by a $23 million increase
in interest income from our higher average invested
cash balances. Interest expense was the same in 2002
and in 2001, which was comprised of a $22 million
increase in interest expense due to our increased level
of average borrowings, offset by a $22 million reduction
in interest expense due to lower average borrowing
rates. The higher level of average borrowings in 2002
were due primarily from the issuance of our convertible




notes in April and October 2001. Capitalized interest
increased $10 million during 2002 compared to 2001
due primarily to higher average levels of investment in
ship construction projects.

Other expense in 2002 of $4 million consisted prima-
rily of a $8 million loss, including related expenses,
resulting from the sale of Holland America’s former
Nieuw Amsterdam, partially offset by $4 million of
income related to the termination of an over funded
pension plan.

Income Taxes

The income tax benefit of $67 million recognized in
2002 was substantially all due to a new ltalian invest-
ment incentive law, which allowed Costa to receive
an income tax benefit of $51 million based on contrac-
tual expenditures during 2002 on the construction of
new ships.

Fiscal 2001 (“2001”) Compared to Fiscal 2000 (“2000”)

Revenues

Revenues increased $757 million, or 20%, in 2001
compared to 2000. Cruise revenues increased by $780
million, or 21.8%, to $4.36 billion in 2001 from $3.58
billion in 2000. Approximately $598 million of our cruise
revenue increase was due to the consolidation of Costa,
and $182 million was due to increased revenues from
our other brands. Our other brands’ cruise revenues
change resulted from an increase of 9.6% in our pas-
senger capacity, partially offset by a 4.1% decrease in
Our gross revenue per passenger cruise day and a slight
decrease in our occupancy rate of 0.4%. Net revenue
yield, excluding Costa, was down 3.6% compared to
2000. Our post-September 11, 2001, cruise results
were adversely affected by the September 11, 2001
terrorist attacks, which impacted all leisure travel busi-
nesses and caused significant price competition among
alternative vacation options in order to stimulate demand.
We therefore had lower occupancies and prices during
our 2001 fourth quarter. In addition, the slowdown in
the general economic and business conditions through-
out fiscal 2001 also adversely impacted our customers
and, accordingly, had an overall negative effect on our
2001 gross revenues compared to 2000. Our luxury
cruise brands, which comprised approximately 8% of
our average capacity during 2001, were particularly
affected by this slowdown and realized significantly
lower pricing during most of 2001 compared to 2000.
Finally in 2001 and 2000, onboard and other revenues
represented 19% and 18.8%, respectively, of our
cruise revenues.

Costs and Expenses

Operating expenses increased $410 million, or 19.9%,
in 2001 compared to 2000. Cruise operating costs
increased by $423 million, or 22.1%, to $2.33 billion in
2001 from $1.91 billion in 2000. Approximately $340
million of our cruise operating cost increase was due 1o

the consolidation of Costa, and the remaining $83 million
of the increase was from our other brands. Cruise oper-
ating costs, excluding Costa, increased in 2001 prima-
rily from additional costs associated with our 9.6%
increase in passenger capacity, partially offset by a
4.4% decrease in our cruise operating expenses per
available berth day.

Selling and administrative expenses increased $131
million, or 26.9%, to $619 million in 2001 from $487
million in 2000. Approximately $98 million of our increase
was due to the consolidation of Costa, and the remaining
$33 million of the increase was from our other brands.
Selling and administrative expenses, excluding Costa,
increased in 2001 primarily from additional expenses
associated with our 9.6% increase in passenger capacity
and the 0.6% increase in our selling and administrative
expenses per available berth day.

Depreciation and amortization increased by $85 million,
or 29.4%, to $372 million in 2001 from $288 million in
2000. This increase was primarily from our consolidation
of Costa, which accounted for approximately $50 mil-
lion of the increase, and the majority of the remaining
$35 miillion increase was due to our expansion of the
fleet and ship improvement expenditures.

Affiliated Operations

During 2001, we recorded $44 million of losses from
affiliated operations as compared with $38 million of
income in 2000. Our portion of Airtours’ losses in 2001
was $43 million as compared to $41 million of losses in
2000. In fiscal 2001 Costa's results of operations were
consolidated and were not included in our 2001 affiliated
operations. We recorded income of $77 million during
2000 from our interest in Costa. See Notes 5 and 17 in
the accompanying financial statements for additional
information regarding our affiliated operations and the
acquisition of Costa.

Nonoperating (Expense) income

Interest income increased by $18 million in 2002
compared to 2001, which was comprised of 2 $30 million
increase in interest income from our higher average
invested cash balances partially offset by a $12 million
reduction in interest income due to lower average inter-
est rates. Interest expense increased by $68 million,
which was comprised of a $99 million increase in interest
expense due to our increased level of average borrow-
ings, partially offset by a $31 million reducticon in interest
expense due to lower average borrowing rates. The
higher level of average borrowings were primarily from
our acquisition and consolidation of Costa and the
issuance of our 2% Notes in April 2001. Capitalized
interest decreased $12 million during 2001 compared
to 2000 due primarily to lower average levels of invest-
ment in ship construction projects.

Qther income in 2001 of $109 million consisted prima-
rily of a gain of $101 million from the sale of our invest-
ment in Airtours, a $13 million gain from a settlement
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agreement with the manufacturers of some of our ship
propulsion systems to reimburse us for lost revenues
and expenses incurred due to disruption in service dur-
ing 2000, a $16 million gain from the sale of our inter-
est in CRC, partially offset by $9 million of short-term
investment write-downs and $9 million of estimated
net litigation expenses.

income Taxes

An income tax benefit of $12 million was recognized
in 2001 compared to a $1 million expense in 2000.
Approximately $9 million of the net increase in the
income tax benefit was from Costa, primarily due to
changes in [talian tax laws.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources and Uses of Cash

Our business provided $1.47 billion of net cash from
operations during fiscal 2002, an increase of $230 million,
or 18.6%, compared to fiscal 2001, due primarily to
an increase in customers’ advance ticket deposits.

Contractual Cash

\Financial Condition and Results of Operations consinuea

During fiscal 2002, our net expenditures for capital
projects were $1.99 billion, of which $1.76 billion was
spent for our ongoing shipbuilding program. The $230
million of nonshipbuilding capital expenditures consisted
primarily of ship refurbishments, information technology
assets, Tour assets and cruise port facility developments.

During fiscal 2002, we borrowed $232 million, which
included $150 million under Costa’s euro denominated
revolving credit facility and $50 million under our revolv-
ing credit facility. In addition, in fiscal 2002, we made
$190 million of principal repayments, primarily on Costa’s
revolving credit facility and Costa’s collateralized debt. We
also paid cash dividends of $246 million in fiscal 2002.

Future Commitments and Funding Sources

At November 30, 2002, our contractual cash obliga-
tions, with initial or remaining terms in excess of one
year, and the effects such obligations are expected to
have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods
were as follows (in thousands):

Payments Due by Fiscal

Obligations(a) Total 2003 2004 2008 20086 2007 Thereafter
Shipbuilding . ............. .. $5,210,000 $1,630,000 $2,110,000 $1,140,000 $ 330,000 $ $

Longtermdebt . ... ......... 3,160,611 148,642 127,985 907,648 1,387,209 22,833 566,294
Port and other commitments . .. 348,700 52,100 38,800 25,300 25,800 27,100 179,600
Operating leases . ............ 69,500 10,700 9,300 9,100 9,100 6,000 25,300

Total contractual

cash obligations  ........... $8,788,811  $1,841,442

$2,286,085 $2,082,048 $1,752,109 355,933  $771,194

{a) See Notes 6 and 7 in the accompanying financial statements for additional information regarding our debt and these commitments.

In addition, see Note 7, “Contingent Obligations”
and Note 6, “Proposed Dual-Listed Company Transaction
with P&Q Princess” and “Travel Vouchers” in the accom-
panying financial statements for a discussion of our
contingent obligations related to our three lease-type
ship transactions and our DLC transaction and travel
voucher commitments, respectively.

At November 30, 2002, we had liquidity of $2.2 billion,
which consisted of $706 million of cash, cash equiva-
lents and short-term investments and $1.5 billion avail-
able for borrowing under our revolving credit facilities
obtained through a group of banks, which have strong
credit ratings. Qur revolving credit facilities mature in
2006. A key to our access to liquidity is the maintenance
of our strong credit ratings. The proposed combination
with P&O Princess under a DLC structure, if completed,
may result in our debt being downgraded from our
current ratings. A downgrade would increase our cost-
of-borrowing, although we believe our senior unsecured
debt will retain a strong investment grade rating.

We believe that our existing liquidity, together with
our forecasted cash flow from future operations, will
be sufficient to fund most of our capital projects, debt
service requirements, dividend payments and working

capital needs. Our forecasted cash flow from future
operations, as well as our credit ratings, may be adversely
affected by various factors, including, but not limited
to, declines in customer demand, increased competition
and overcapacity, the deterioration in general economic
and business conditions, the international political and
economic climate, accidents and other incidents at sea,
adverse publicity and increases in fuel prices, as well as
other factors noted under “Cautionary Note Concerning
Factors That May Affect Future Results.” To the extent
that we are required, or choose, to fund future cash
reguirements, including our future shipbuilding commit-
ments, from sources other than as discussed above,
we believe that we will be able to secure such financing
from banks or through the offering of debt and/or equity
securities in the public or private markets. No assur-
ance can be given that our future operating cash flow
will be sufficient to fund future obligations or that we
will be able to obtain additional financing, if necessary.
Although no assurance can be given, we expect to
complete our DLC transaction with P&QO Princess in the
second quarter of fiscal 2003. As a result of the DLC
transaction, the Combined Group's outstanding long-
term debt will be approximately $5.7 billion and its




shipbuilding commitments for 18 new cruise ships and
two river boats will be approximately $7.0 billion, which
is a substantial increase over our existing obligations
and commitments. However, we believe that the
Combined Group's liquidity, including cash and commit-
ted financings, and cash flows from future operations
will be sufficient to fund the expected capital projects,
debt service requirements, dividend payments, working
capital and other firm commitments through at least
the next twelve months.

Off-Baiance Sheet Arrangements

We are not a party to any off-balance sheet arrange-
ments, including guarantee contracts, retained or contin-
gent interests, certain derivative instruments and variable
interest entities, that either have, or are reasonably
likely to have, a current or future material effect on our
financial statements.

Other Matter

Market Risks

We are principally exposed to market risks from fluc-
tuations in foreign currency exchange rates, bunker fuel
prices and interest rates. We seek to minimize foreign
currency and interest rate risks through our normal
operating and financing activities, including netting cer-
tain exposures 1o take advantage of any natural offsets,
through our long-term investment and debt portfolio
strategies and, when considered appropriate, through
the use of derivative financial instruments. The financial
impacts of these hedging instruments are offset by cor-
responding changes in the underlying exposures being
hedged. Our policy is to not use financial instruments
for trading or other speculative purposes.

Exposure to Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

Our primary foreign currency exchange risk was
related to our outstanding commitments under ship
construction contracts denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the cruise brand that is
expected to be operating the ship. These non-functional
currency commitments are affected by fluctuations in
the value of the functional currency as compared to the
currency in which the shipbuilding contract is denomi-
nated. Foreign currency forward contracts are generally
used to manage this risk (see Notes 2 and 11 in the
accompanying financial statements). Accordingly,
increases and decreases in the fair value of these for-
eign currency forward contracts offset changes in the
fair value of the hedged non-functional foreign currency
denominated ship construction commitments, thus
resulting in the elimination of such risk.

We have forward foreign currency contracts for
seven of our euro denominated shipbuilding contracts
(see Note 7 in the accompanying financial statement).
At November 30, 2002, the fair value of these forward
contracts was an unrealized loss of $178 mitlion which

is recorded, along with an offsetting $178 million fair
value asset related to our shipbuilding firm commitments,
on our accompanying 2002 balance sheet. These for-
eign currency forward contracts mature through 2005.
Based upon a 10% strengthening or weakening of the
U.S. dollar compared to the euro as of November 30,
2002, assuming no changes in comparative interest
rates, the estimated fair value of these contracts would
decrease or increase by $235 million, which would be
offset by a decrease or increase of $235 million in the
U.S. dollar value of the related foreign currency ship
construction commitments resulting in no net dollar
impact to us.

The cost of shipbuilding orders, which we may place
in the future may be affected by foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations. Should the U.S. dollar weaken
relative to the euro, future orders for new ship con-
struction in European shipyards may be at higher prices
relative to the U.S. dollar.

Additionally, our investments in foreign subsidiaries
subjects us to foreign currency exchange rate risk.

We consider our investments in foreign subsidiaries to
be denominated in relatively stable currencies and/or
of a long-term nature and, accordingly, do not typically
manage our related foreign currency exchange rate
risk through the use of derivative financial instruments.
However, when we paid the Costa acquisition price,
we utilized debt denominated in euros, the functional
currency of Costa, to reduce a portion of this risk.

Finally, we sell cruises and incur cruise expenses in
foreign currencies which subiects us to foreign currency
exchange risk. The primary currencies for which we
have exchange rate exposure are the U.S. dollar versus
both the euro and the UK Sterling. We do not expect
that the impact of fluctuations in the foreign currency
exchange rate on our foreign currency denominated
cruise revenues and expenses to materially affect our
results of operations due primarily to the natural hedges,
which are expected to exist within our operations,
including interest expense on euro denominated bor-
rowings, and the relative stability of the foreign curren-
cies. However, we will continue to monitor such items
to determine if any actions, such as the issuance of
additional foreign currency denominated debt or use of
other financial instruments, would be warranted to
reduce such risk.

Exposure to Bunker Fuel Prices

Cruise ship operating expenses are impacted by
changes in bunker fuel prices. Bunker fuel consumed
over the past three fiscal years ranged from approxi-
mately 4.2% in fiscal 2002 to 4.0% in fiscal 2001 and
2000 of our gross cruise revenues. We have typically not
used financial instruments to hedge our exposure to
the bunker fuel price market risk.

Based upon a 10% hypothetical increase or decrease
in the November 30, 2002 bunker fuel price, we estimate
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that our fiscal 2003 bunker fuel cost would increase or
decrease by approximately $19 million compared to
fiscal 2002. See "Qutlook For Fiscal 2003.”

Exposure to Interest Rates

in order to limit our exposure to interest rate fluctua-
tions, we have entered into a substantial number of fixed
rate debt instruments. We continuously evaluate cur
debt portfolio, including interest rate swap agreements,
and make periodic adjustments to the mix of floating
rate and fixed rate debt based on our view of interest
rate movements. Accordingly in 2001, we entered into
fixed to variable interest rate swap agreements, which
lowered our fiscal 2002 and 2001 interest costs and are
also expected to lower our fiscal 2003 interest costs.
At November 30, 2002, 81% of the interest cost on our
debt was effectively fixed and 19% was variable.

At November 30, 2002, our long-term debt had a
carrying value of $3.186 billion. At November 30, 2002,
our swap agreements effectively changed $225 million
of fixed rate debt with a weighted-average fixed inter-
est rate of 6.8% to Libor-based floating rate debt. In
addition, interest rate swaps at November 30, 2002,
effectively changed $468 million of euribor floating
rate debt t¢ fixed rate debt with a weighted-average
fixed interest rate of 5.5%. These interest rate swaps

mature through 2006. The fair value of our debt and
swaps at November 30, 2002 was $3.33 billion. Based
upon a hypothetical 10% decrease or increase in the
November 30, 2002 market interest rates, the fair value
of our debt and swaps would increase or decrease by
$55 million. In addition, based upon a hypothetical 10%
decrease or increase in our November 30, 2002 common
stock price, the fair value of our convertible notes wou'd
increase or decrease by approximately $26 million.

These hypothetical amounts are determined by con-
sidering the impact of the hypothetical interest rates
and common stock price on our existing debt and inter-
est rate swaps. This analysis does not consider the
effects of the changes in the level of overall economic
activity that could exist in such environments or any
relationships which may exist between interest rate
and stock price movements. Furthermore, since sub-
stantially all of our fixed rate debt cannot currently be
called or prepaid and a majority of our variable rate
debt is subject to interest rate swaps which effectively
fix the interest rate in the short-term, it is unlikely we
would be able to take any significant steps in the short-
term to mitigate our exposure in the event of a signifi-
cant decrease in market interest rates.

Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated financial data presented below for fiscal 1998 through 2002 and as of the end
of each such fiscal year, are derived from our audited financial statements and should be read in conjunction with

those financial statements and the related notes.

Years Ended November 30,

fin thousands, except per share data and percentages) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Statement of Operations and Other Datal®
REVENUES ... ... $ 4,368,269 $ 4,535,751 $3,778,642 $3,497,470 $3,009,306
Operating income . .................... $ 1,042,059 $ 891,731 $ 982,958 $1,019,699 $ 896,524
Netincome® .. ... .. .. ... ............ $ 1,015,941l § 926,200 § 965,458 $1,027,240 $ 835,885
Earnings per share®
Basic . ... $ 1.73 3 1.58 3 1.61 3 1.68 $ 1.40@
Diluted ....... ... ... ... ... .. ... $ 1.73 $ 1.58 $ 1.80 $ 1.66 $ 1.401
Dividends declared pershare ............. $ 420 $ 420 3 420 $ 375 3 315
Cash from operations . ................. $ 1,468,032 $ 1,238,936 $1,279,535 $1,329,724 $1,091,840
Capital expenditures . ............ .. ..., $ 1,985,482 $ 826,568 $1,003,348 $ 872,984 $1,150,4183
Available lower berth daysiet .. ... ... ... . 21,436 20,685 15,888 14,336 12,237
Passengerscarried ............ ... .. ... 3,549 3,385 2,669 2,366 2,045
Occupancy percentagest® . ... ... ...... .. 105.2% 104.7% 105.4% 104.3% 106.3%
As of Novernber 30,
(in thousands, except percentages) 20020} 2001%@ 2000t 1999 1998
Balance Sheet and Other Data
Total@assets ... ... ... $12,334,848l9)  $11,563,65219  $9,831,320 $8,286,355 $7.179,323
Long-term debt, excluding current portion ... $ 3,011,969 $ 2,954,854 $2,099,077 $ 867,515 $1,663,014
Total shareholders’ equity ............... $ 7,417,903 $ 6,590,777 $5,870,617 $5,931,247 $4,285,476
Debt to capital®™ .. ... ... oL 29.9% 31.1% 28.6% 15.3% 27.6%

{a) From June 1897 through September 28, 2000, we owned 50% of Costa. On September 29, 2000, we completed the acquisition
of the remaining 50% interest in Costa. We accounted for this transaction using the purchase accounting method. Prior to the
fiscal 2000 acquisition, we accounted for our 50% interest in Costa using the equity method. Commencing in fiscal 2001, Costa’s




results of operations have been consolidated in the same manner as our other wholly-owned subsidiaries. Our November 30,
2000 and subsequent consolidated balance sheets include Costa’s balance sheet. All statistical information prior to 2001 does
not include Costa. See Notes 5 and 17 in the accompanying financial statements.

{(b) Effective December 1, 2001, we adopted SFAS No. 142, which requires us to stop amortizing goodwill and requires an annual, or
when events or circumstances dictate a more frequent, impairment review of goodwill. Accordingly, as of December 1, 2001, we
no longer amortize our goodwill. If goodwill had not been recorded for periods prior to December 1, 2001, our adjusted net income
and adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share would have been as follows (dollars in thousands, except per share data):

Years Ended November 30,

2001 2000 1999 1998
Netincome ... .. . . $926,200 $965458  $1,027,240 $835,885
Goodwill amortization .. ... ... 25,480 23,046 20,666 17.074
Adjusted netiNCOME . . ... ... $951,680 $988,504  $1,047,906 $852,959
Adjusted earnings per share
Basic ... $§ 163 $ 165 % 171 ¢ 143
Diuted ... $ 162 § 164 § 170 & 143

{c) Our net income for fiscal 2002 and 2001 includes an impairment charge of $20 million and $140 million, respectively, and fiscal
2001 includes a nonoperating net gain of $107 million from the sale of our investment in Airtours. In addition, fiscal 2002 includes
a $51 million income tax benefit as a result of a new ltalian investment incentive, which allows Costa to receive an income tax
benefit based on contractual expenditures during 2002 on construction of new ships. See Notes 4, 5 and 9 in the accompanying
financial statements.

{d) The 1998 per share amounts have been adjusted to reflect a two-for-one stock split effective June 12, 1998.

(e} Represents the total annual passenger capacity, assuming two passengers per cabin, that our ships offered for sale, which is
computed by multiplying passenger capacity by ship operating days.

(f} In accordance with cruise industry practice, occupancy percentage is calculated based upon two passengers per cabin even
though some cabins can accommodate three or more passengers. The percentages in excess of 100% indicate that more than
two passengers occupied some cabins.

(g} Effective December 1, 2000, we adopted SFAS No. 133, which requires that all derivative instruments be recorded on our balance
sheet. Total 2002 and 2001 assets include $178 million and $567 million, respectively, which represents the fair value of hedged
firm commitments. See Note 2 in the accompanying financial statements.

(h) Represents the percentage of total debt to the sum of total debt and shareholders’ equity.

Market Price for Common Stock

QOur common stock is traded on the New York Stock As of January 29, 2003, there were approximately
Exchange under the symbol CCL. Our intra-day high 4,556 holders of record of our common stock. The
and low common stock sales prices for the periods Republic of Panama does not currently have tax treaties
indicated were as follows: with any other country. Under current law, we believe

) that distributions to our shareholders, other than resi-
High Low . . .

- dents of Panama or other business entities conducting
F'S;‘?' 2?102: business in Panama, are not subject to taxation under
IStAAMer ... $28.62  $25.05 the laws of the Republic of Panama. Dividends that

Second Quarter ........ ... ...... $34.64 $27.40 . . .

Third Quarter $30.90 $22.81 we pay to U.S. citizens, residents, corporations and to

Foutn Querier ||| sas78 sy foreen corporations doing business n he US, to the

extent treated as “effectively connected” income, will
Fiscal 2001 be taxable as ordinary income for U.S. federal income

First Quarter . ................... $34.94 $21.94 tax purposes to the extent of our current or accumu-

Second Quarter . ................ $33.40  $23.60 lated earnings and profits, but generally will not gualify

Third Quarter ................... $33.74  $25.89 for any dividends-received deduction.

Fourth Quarter .................. $3147 $16.95
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Carnival Corporation

Quarterly financial results for fiscal 2002 were as follows:

Quarters Ended

(in thousands, except per share data) February 28 May 31 August 31 November 30
ReVENUES . .. . e $ 905,776 $ 983,157 $1,437,655 $1,035,681
Gross profit ... . $ 387611 & 455702 §$ 755,412 $ 457,625
Operating iNCOME . . .o\ vt e $ 145,812 $ 220,411 $ 488,424la) $ 187,4120)
Netincome ... $ 129,640 $ 194,201 $ 500,764 $ 191,336
Earnings per share

BaSIC . $ 22§ 33§ .85 $ .33

DilUted . $ 22 8 33 8 .85 $ .33
Dividends declared per share .. .......... ... .. . ... ... $ 105 8 105 8 105 $ 165
(a) Includes a $17 million and a $34 million income tax benefit in the August 31 and November 30 quarters, respectively, from

Costa, resulting from a new ltalian investment incentive law. In addition, the August 31 quarter includes a $20 million

impairment charge.

Quarterly financial results for fiscal 2001 were as follows:

Quarters Ended

(in thousands, except per share data) \ February 28 May 31 August 31 November 30
ReVENUBS . . o e $1,007,606 $1,079,125 $1,483,918 $ 989,102
Gross profit . ... . $ 407486 $ 477,791 $ 770,540 $ 411,204
Operating INCOME . . . ... e $ 138,941 § 207,907 $ 425346 $ 118,537
NEtINCOME .. ..o $ 127,950@ § 186,9630 $§ 494,975 § 116,312
Earnings per share

BasiC . e $ 22 3 32 % .84 $ 20

Diluted . o $ 22 3 32 3 .84 $ 20
Dividends declared per share ...... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... $ 105 % 106 % 105 $ 105

{a) Includes a $13 million gain from a settlement agreement with the manufacturers of some of our ship propulsion systems to
reimburse us for lost revenues and expenses incurred due to disruption in service during 2000.

(b} Includes a $16 million gain from the sale of our interest in CRC, partially offset by $9 million of short-term investment write-downs
and $6 million of estimated litigation expenses.

{c) Includes a $101 million impairment charge and $7 million of estimated litigation expenses, partially offset by a gain of $1071 million
from the sale of our investment in Airtours.

(d) Includes a $39 million impairment charge, partially offset by $4 million of net nonoperating income related to litigation.
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